

National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Service des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

# NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments.

### **AVIS**

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.



# UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

# Protocols and Performance Models for High Speed, Dual-bus, Fiber-Optic Local Area Networks

by

(ن)

Bandula W. Abeysundara

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Computing Science

Edmonton, Alberta

SPRING 1991



National Library of Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Service des thèses canadiennes

**Bibliothèque** nationale

du Canada

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

The author has granted an irrevocable nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-66761-3



# UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

### **RELEASE FORM**

NAME OF AUTHOR :Bandula W. AbeysundaraTITLE OF THESIS :Protocols and Performance Models for High Speed, Dual-bus,<br/>Fiber-Optic Local Area Networks

DEGREE FOR WHICH THIS THESIS WAS PRESENTED : Doctor of Philosophy

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: 1991

Permission is hereby granted to The University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

(Signed) ....

Permanent Address :

53/17 Tourist Depot Road Katubedda, Moratuwa Sri Lanka

Dated April 19, 1991

## THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

# FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled Protocols and Performance Models for High Speed, Dual-bus, Fiber-Optic Local Area Networks submitted by Bandula W. Abeysundara in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

A. E. Kamal (Supervisor)

1632,15.

U. M. Maydell

P. Gburzynski

W. Krzymien

Date: January 21, 1991

#### ABSTRACT

At high data transmission rates, the packet transmission time in a local area network (LAN) could become comparable to, or less than the medium propagation delay. Therefore, in high speed LANs, the ratio of the channel propagation delay to the packet transmission time, or the *normalized* propagation delay, **a**, could approach or even exceed 1. The performance of existing LAN schemes, for example, LANs employing the CSMA/CD protocol, degrades rapidly as a approaches 1. In a high speed environment therefore, LAN medium access protocols should be capable of yielding satisfactory performance over a wider range of a values.

In this thesis, we propose two new LAN medium access protocols, named Z-Net and X-Net, as suitable candidates for operation at high speeds. The network architecture is based on two, unidirectional fiber-optic channels. A distinct feature of the architecture is the use of active taps to minimize the waste of channel bandwidth due to collisions. When collisions occur, one transmission continues to completion, while others are aborted. The proposed medium access protocols behave as random-access schemes at light load. As load increases, the behaviour is similar to that of a controlled-access scheme with implicit token-passing. Because of this hybrid nature of the access protocols, they possess the advantages of zero medium access delay at light load and bounded delay at all loads. The protocols are completely distributed, with all stations executing the same access protocol. Thus, the vulnerability of the network to a single station failure is minimized. Further, for the execution of the protocols, stations do not require a knowledge of other station locations in the network. This reduces maintenance effort, when there are frequent changes in station locations.

The performance of the Z-Net and X-Net are evaluated using approximate analytic models. These results are then validated against the results obtained from simulation models. The channel utilization values of the analytic and simulation models are in very close agreement. Performance results show that both protocols achieve high channel utilization (with X-Net exhibiting superior performance) even when the packet transmission time is low compared to the channel propagation delay. Therefore, the proposed schemes are suitable for operating at high channel data rates. The bounded delay property makes them suitable for supporting real-time traffic.

#### Acknowledgements

I wish to thank Professor Ahmed Kamal, my supervisor, for his guidance and assistance during the entire period of this work. I also wish to thank the members of my supervisory and examining committees, Professors Ursula Maydell, Tamer Ozsu, Pawel Gburzynski, Witold Krzymien and Jeremiah Hayes. Their comments were valuable in improving the thesis.

The Department of Computing Science and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) of Canada provided me with financial assistance during the months when I needed it the most. I will always remember the kindness of the support staff of the Department of Computing Science, specifically that of Edith Drummond, Karen Lochmanetz, Debi Owens, Ollie Frost and Rod Johnson.

My good friend, Dr. Hossam Hassanein was always there to provide me with information and advice on almost anything - academic or non-academic. Finally, I am grateful to my wife, Lalitha, and my children, Gayan, Namal and Navin, for acceptin. my excuses, though unwillingly, for being away from home most of the time.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1 Introduction				
1.1 Local Area Networks	1			
1.2 LAN Performance Measures	2			
1.3 The Need for High Speed LANs	3			
1.4 Performance Degradation of LANs at High Speed	4			
1.5 Related Work	6			
1.5.1 Bus Networks	7			
1.5.1.1 Expressnet	7			
1.5.1.2 Fasnet	8			
1.5.1.3 D-Net	10			
1.5.1.4 Buzz-Net	11			
1.5.1.5 Token-less Protocols	12			
1.5.1.6 Distributed Queue Dual Bus (DQDB)	13			
1.5.2 Ring Networks	16			
1.5.2.1 Cambridge Fast Ring (CFR)	19			
1.5.2.2 Fiber Distributed Data Interface (FDDI)	20			
1.5.3 Star Networks	22			
1.5.3.1 Hubnet	23			
1.5.4 Multi-channel Local Area Networks (MLANs)	25			
1.6 Contributions and Outline of the Thesis	26			
Chapter 2 Network Architecture and the Medium Access Protocols of Z-Net and X-Net	28			
2.1 The Need for New Medium Access Protocols	28			
2.2 Architectural Features	28			
2.3 Salient Features of the Medium Access Protocols	30			
2.4 Z-Net	33			
2.5 X-Net	38			
2.5.1 Operation under the Transient Mode	40			
2.5.2 Operation under the Controlled Mode	42			
Appendix 2.1 Proof of Lemma 2.1	50			
Appendix 2.2 Proof of Lemma 2.2	52			

Appendix 2.3 Proof of Lemma 2.3	53		
Appendix 2.4 Proof of Lemma 2.4	54		
Appendix 2.5 Proof of Lemma 2.5	56		
Appendix 2.6 Proof of Lemma 2.6	56		
Chapter 3 Analytic Performance Modeling of Z-Net and X-Net			
3.1 The General Model	57		
3.2 Performance Modeling of Z-Net	58		
3.3 Performance Modeling of X-Net	67		
3.4 Mean Channel Utilization	75		
3.5 Mean Packet Delay	77		
Appendix 3.1 Evaluation of $p_x$ and $p_{y x}$ in Subcase 1.1 of Z-Net Model	80		
Appendix 3.2 Evaluation of $p_x$ and $p_{y x}$ in Subcase 1.2 of Z-Net Model	81		
Appendix 3.3 Evaluation of $p_x$ and $p_{y x}$ in Subcase 1.3 of Z-Net Model	83		
Appendix 3.4 Recursive Algorithm for evaluating the function f(m,n)	84		
Appendix 3.5 Evaluation of the function $P_r(y \mid i, k, e, n)$	84		
Appendix 3.6 Evaluation of $P_{N}^{1,x}$ , x=1,2,3,4, of X-Net Model	88		
Appendix 3.7 Evaluation of the function $Q_r(y \mid i \not k, e, \pi)$	89		
Appendix 3.8 Derivation of $S_Z(j, l \mid n, e, i, k)$ when $j \le i$	92		
Appendix 3.9 Derivation of $S_X(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,R-L,c,j,k)$ when $j \le i$	95		
Chapter 4 Performance Evaluation of Z-Net and X-Net	100		
4.1 Channel Utilization	100		
4.2 Packet Transfer Delay	103		
4.3 Comparison of Performance with other Bus Schemes	107		
4.4 Performance Improvements in Z-Net	111		
4.5 Effect of the parameter EC on the Performance of X-Net	112		
Chapter 5 Conclusions and Directions for Further Research			
References	119		

List of Tables

108
,

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Different bus architectures	9
Figure 1.2. Architecture of Multi-channel LANs	25
Figure 2.1. Dual-unidirectional bus architecture	29
Figure 2.2. Passive switch interfacing a station to a bus	30
Figure 2.3. Active switch interfacing a station to a bus	31
Figure 2.4. State diagram of Z-Net	35
Figure 2.5. Blocking of packets on the L-R bus by station j	37
Figure 2.6. D-pkt transmissions in the transient mode of X-Net	43
Figure 2.7. State diagram of X-Net	46
Figure 2.8. Transition between modes in X-Net	49
Figure 2.9. Idle time intervals seen by station j	51
Figure 2.10. Time-space diagram when $ACL_i > 2\tau$	53
Figure 2.11. Time-space diagram when $ACL_i \leq 2\tau$	54
Figure 2.12. Channel busy times seen by stations i and j	56
Figure 3.1. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.1	64
Figure 3.2. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.2	65
Figure 3.3. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.3	66
Figure 3.4. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.1	70
Figure 3.5. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.2	71
Figure 3.6. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.3	71
Figure 3.7. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.4	72
Figure 3.8. Two consecutive packet arrivals at a station	78
Figure 3.9. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.1	92
Figure 3.10. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.2	93
Figure 3.11. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.3	94
Figure 3.12. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.1	96
Figure 3.13. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.2	96
Figure 3.14. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.3	97
Figure 3.15. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.4	98
Figure 4.1. Channel utilization vs Offered load for Z-Net	101
Figure 4.2. Channel utilization vs Offered load for X-Net	102
Figure 4.3. Channel utilization vs Offered load for Z-Net and X-Net at high a	104
Figure 4.4. Transfer delay vs Channel utilization for Z-Net	105
Figure 4.5. Transfer delay vs Channel utilization for X-Net	106
Figure 4.6. Maximum channel utilization vs a for several bus networks	109
Figure 4.7. Insertion delay vs Channel utilization for several bus networks	110
Figure 4.8. Variation of Insertion delay with parameter EC in X-Net (a= 5.0)	113
Figure 4.9. Variation of Insertion delay with parameter EC in X-Net (a= 0.2)	115

#### List of Symbols

- N number of stations
- T packet transmission time
- τ end-to-end medium propagation delay
- a ratio of end-to-end propagation delay to the packet transmission time
- $\tau_{i,j}$  propagation delay between stations i and j
- U channel utilization
- α tap ratio of a fiber-optic switch
- $\theta$  time taken by a station to detect BOC on a bus
- $\beta$  time taken by a station to detect EOC on a bus
- $\gamma$  time taken by a station to start its actual transmission once it decides to transmit.
- $t_{st,y}^{x}$  time instant of the start of  $x^{th}$  transmission cycle by station y
- i(j) identity of the station that started the  $r^{th}$  ( $(r+1)^{th}$ ) transmission cycle
- k(l) number of stations in ready state at time  $t_{st,i}^r$   $(t_{st,j}^{r+1})$ , which are located downstream from i(j) on the R-L bus
- *n* cycle length of  $r^{th}$  cycle
- e identity of the station that transmitted last in the  $r^{th}$  cycle
- $t_c^r$  cycle time of  $r^{th}$  cycle (i.e.,  $t_c^r = t_{st,j}^{r+1} t_{st,i}^r$ )
- $t_{ent,x}$  time instant of the server entering station x
- $t_{dep,x}$  time instant of the server departing station x
- $\tau_{x,y}$  propagation delay from station x to station y
- a(b) type of  $r^{th}$  ((r+1)<sup>th</sup>) transmission cycle (R-L or L-R) in X-Net
- c(d) mode of station i (j) just before the start of  $r^{th}$  ((r+1)<sup>th</sup>) cycle (random or controlled) in X-Net

# List of Abbreviations

ACL	Accumulated cycle length
AIT	Accumulated idle time
AS	Activity signal
BOC	Beginning of carrier
CFR	Cambridge Fast Ring
CSMA/CD	Carrier Sense Multiple Access with Collision Detect
DQDB	Distributed Queue Dual Bus
EC	Empty Cycles (a parameter used in X-Net)
ECC	Empty Cycle Counter
EOC	End of carrier
EOT	End of train
FDDI	Fiber Distributed Data Interface
FIFO	First in first out
HSLAN	High speed local area network
ITC	Idle time counting
LAN	Local area network
L-R	Left-10-Right
MAN	Metropolitan area network
MLAN	Multi-channel local area network
NAC	Network access controller
R-L	Right-to-Left
ТНТ	Token holding time
TLP	Tokenless protocol
TRT	Token rotation time
TTRT	Target token rotation time
WAN	Wide area network

#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

#### 1.1. Local Area Networks

With the advent of cheaper and powerful microprocessors, there has been a tendency within the past two decades to move from large centralized computers towards smaller machines. Along with the wide spread use of a large number of smaller, autonomous machines, the advantages gained by providing access to an interconnection facility became apparent. Today, computer networks provide interconnection among various computers and peripheral devices (such as printers and mass storage devices), and allow sharing of information and expensive resources among different users. Local area networks (LANs) are a subset of computer networks that provide networking facilities within a limited geographical area. In addition to the short distances spanned, compared to wide area networks (WANs) LANs are characterized by the following:

(a). High data rates

LANs usually use much higher data rates (typically over 1 Mbps) than WANs.

(b). Low error rates

Local networks generally experience much fewer data transmission errors (bit error rates in the range of  $10^{-8}$  to  $10^{-11}$ ) than long haul networks.

(c). Simpler routing

Many LANs possess the message broadcast feature and thus do not require any message routing algorithms. Even without the broadcast facility, the routing algorithms employed are usually much simpler than in WANs.

(d). Ownership by a single organization

A LAN is typically owned and used by a single organization because of its limited geographical coverage. This leads to less administrative and maintenance complexities and costs.

(e). Lower communication costs

Lower error rates, simpler (or, absence of) routing algorithms and lower administrative and maintenance costs combine to make overall communication costs in a LAN lower than that of a WAN.

Apart from the LANs and WANs, recently another category of computer networks has emerged. These are metropolitan area networks (MANs), which share some of the characteristics of both LANs and WANs. A MAN can be viewed as a very large LAN, using access protocols less sensitive to network size than those used in LANs [Mollenauer 1988]. A main objective of MANs is to provide interconnection of LANs. Thus, they typically employ very high data rates, cover larger distances than LANs and are capable of supporting data, voice and video communication services.

An early paper that gives a good introduction to LANs is [Clark et al. 1978]. Recent papers surveying local area network technology and access protocols are [Stallings 1984c], [Sachs 1988] and [Abeysundara and Kamal 1991].

#### **1.2. LAN Performance Measures**

A variety of measures have been used in evaluating the performance of LANs. Three mostly used performance measures are: *information throughput, channel utilization* and *(various forms of) delay.* Information throughput can be defined as the total number of information bits transmitted per unit time [Bux 1984]. Even though a certain number of overhead bits for addressing, error control and other administrative purposes are transmitted in addition to the information bits, these overhead bits are excluded in calculating the information throughput. Channel utilization can be defined as the fraction of time spent in transmitting information bits, as opposed to the total time spent in transmitting information as well as overhead bits [Fine and Tobagi 1984]. To achieve high channel utilization, the waiting time until the start of a successful packet transmission and the overhead associated with the transmission should be kept low. These overheads typically consist of the transmission of preambles for receiver synchronization (in asynchronous schemes), and time spent in transmitting address, error control and other protocol dependent control information.

Delay can be defined in several forms, depending on the time instants considered in the measurement of delay. One measure is the *mean transfer time* of packets. This is defined as the average time interval from the generation of a packet at the originating station until its complete reception at the destination [Bux 1981]. This time interval consists of the time spent in a queue at the originating station until the packet moves to the head of the queue (normally termed, *queueing delay*), waiting time at the head of the queue until the beginning of successful transmission of the packet (defined as the *access* or *insertion delay*), the packet transmission time, and the medium propagation delay. For stations with single buffers, the *queueing delay* defined above will be zero. This is because, when the station buffer is not empty, either the packet generation process is considered to be inhibited, or, packets generated are considered to be lost. Another measure of delay is the time interval between the start (or, end) of two consecutive successful transmissions by a station, termed as the *station cycle time*.

In addition to the performance, some of the other important considerations in the evaluation of LAN schemes are the cost, ease of implementation, fairness, reliability, maintainability and the expandability.

#### 1.3. The need for High Speed LANs

Chlamtac and Franta discuss the rationale behind the need for ever increasing networking speeds in [Chlamtac and Franta 1990]. The dramatic increase in computer processing power over the last few years, the enormous increase in the volume of stored or processed data accompanied by the declining costs of storage and optical transmission media, and the need to interconnect low speed network segments are motivating factors for high data rate networks. A low speed local net-

work would quickly become the bottleneck between devices needing to transfer huge amounts of data with very low delay. As an example, a LAN used as a back-end network connecting computers to other storage devices and peripherals has to operate at least as fast as the devices on it, in order to minimize buffering constraints. As the technology pushes the speeds of hard disks and optical disks further up, back-end networks need to operate even faster [Joshi and Iyer 1984]. Apart from these, advances in computer and communication technologies have widened the application areas of LANs. Distributed computing systems and office automation are examples of different areas where increasing use of LAN technology is made. The integration of different services on the same network require LANs to cater for not only data, but also voice and video. These new applications further increase demands on the performance of LANs. LANs are required to provide not only high channel throughputs but also satisfy stringent delay requirements. Therefore, in meeting these increasing demands, it is essential that future LANs should be capable of operating at much higher data rates, achieving high channel efficiencies and lower delay.

## 1.4. Performance Degradation of LANs at High Speed

In a high speed local area network (HSLAN), the packet transmission time T will be comparatively small due to the high data rate of the channel. Even for sufficiently large packet sizes, it is possible that T becomes comparable to, or even less than the channel propagation delay  $\tau$ . If a is defined as the ratio of the end-to-end channel propagation delay to the packet transmission time (i.e., *normalized* channel propagation delay), this means that a could be close to 1 or even greater in HSLANs. This will be a key characteristic in a local network operating at very high speeds. Therefore, the architecture and the protocols used in such a network should be able to achieve acceptable performance even under high values of the *normalized propagation delay* **a**.

Generally, the overhead associated with a medium access protocol increases with the propagation delay. For example, in the IEEE 802.5 token ring [IEEE 1985c], assume that all stations are backlogged (i.e., having packets for transmission) and the packet transmission time is less than the round-trip propagation delay. Then, the overhead between two consecutive packet transmissions consists of the time spent since the end of a packet transmission by a station until the reception of token by the next ready station. This overhead time depends on the round-trip medium propagation delay and the propagation delay between the two stations considered. When **a** is small (i.e., much less than 1), the packet transmission time is dominant compared to the medium propagation delay. Therefore, the fraction of total time spent in information transmission is large. In most of the medium access protocols therefore, high channel utilizations and lower delays can be achieved when **a** is small.

When a is high (close to, or above 1) however, the medium propagation delay is the dominant factor, compared to the packet transmission time. Therefore, generally, the fraction of time spent in information transmission is low. This is because of the large fraction of overhead caused by the comparatively high propagation delay. This results in a rapid degradation in performance with increasing a in many LAN schemes.

In several papers [Bux 1981; Bux 1984; Stallings 1984b; Tobagi and Hunt 1980; Tobagi et al. 1983], the performance degradation of CSMA/CD bus schemes (for example, Ethernet [Metcalfe and Boggs 1976]) with increasing a is discussed. Performance results reported in [Bux 1981] and [Tobagi et al. 1983] show that the CSMA/CD bus behaves satisfactorily as long as the *normalized propagation delay* a is sufficiently low. When a increases, performance degrades rapidly. The same behaviour can be observed when the CSMA/CD protocol is used on other topologies. This is because, with decreasing ratio of packet transmission time to *slot length* (*slot length* must be at least equal to the maximum round-trip propagation delay of the system), the protocol overhead increases significantly in terms of the fraction of time lost for collisions and their resolution [Bux 1984]. Therefore, CSMA/CD schemes are not suitable for networks with high transmission rates, small-size packets, and long distances because under these circumstances a could become high.

In [Fine and Tobagi 1984], the performance of several bus schemes as a function of a is analyzed in detail. The analysis shows how the performance of different bus protocols are affected to a varying degree with increasing a. In some bus schemes considered in the paper, performance degrades rapidly with increasing a, indicating that they are not very suitable to perform as HSLANS.

#### 1.5. Related Work

Several network schemes have been proposed in the recent past to function as HSLANs. Many of these are capable of using, or are designed to use optical fibers as the communication medium. This is due to several desirable characteristics of optical fibers. These include:

- very high bandwidth
- protection against electromagnetic interference and signal leakage
- better signal attenuation characteristics compared to coaxial cables
- small size and light weight
- more elastic than conventional twisted, shielded wire pairs and coaxial cables.

A major problem in using optical fibers is the difficulty in aligning and joining two fibers during field installations. Usually, special equipment is required for joining fibers without introducing high losses. Further, compared to metallic media, optical fibers are fragile. Therefore, special shielding may be necessary to make them sufficiently robust. This problem is being alleviated with the introduction of plastic fibers [Tangney and O'Mahony 1988].

Several papers [Finley 1984; Limb 1984; Marhic and Tobagi 1986; Matsushita et al. 1985; Nasschi et al. 1985; Personick 1985; Rhodes 1983; Wernli 1986; Maxemchuk 1988] discuss specifically the application of optical fibers and fiber-optic devices in local area networks.

In this section, the architecture, medium access protocol, and the performance characteristics of several recently proposed HSLAN schemes are reviewed briefly. These are broadly categorized under bus, ring and star architectures.<sup>1</sup>

#### **1.5.1.** Bus Networks

In bus networks, all stations are connected to a transmission medium that spans over the whole length of the network. The medium and the interfaces are usually passive, and therefore bus networks are considered to be reliable. A disadvantage of bus networks is that baseband signals will suffer more attenuation and distortion compared to the shorter point-to-point links of a ring or a star network.

Several LAN schemes have been proposed, based on the linear, bidirectional bus topology (Figure 1.1.a), and its variations. Ethernet [Metcalfe and Boggs 1976] is an example of a LAN scheme that uses the linear, bidirectional bus. Variations to this basic architecture are unidirectional buses with single-folded (Figure 1.1.b), double-folded (Figure 1.1.c) and dual (Figure 1.1.d) bus architectures.

A comprehensive survey of broadcast bus LANs and their performance characteristics is contained in [Fine and Tobagi 1984]. Several bus LAN schemes have been proposed in the recent past, which are designed to operate at high data rates. The majority of these protocols fall into the category of *attempt-and-defer* schemes [Fine and Tobagi 1984]. This access mechanism is implemented on unidirectional bus systems, where there is an implicit ordering of the stations. In attempt-and-defer schemes, a ready station waits until the channel becomes idle. It then starts transmission, deferring to transmissions from the upstream stations. Some of the recently proposed HSLANs using this access mechanism are reviewed in the following sections.

#### 1.5.1.1. Expressnet

Expressnet [Tobagi et al. 1983] is a unidirectional broadcast bus system using a doublefolded passive network (Figure 1.1.c). It is an *attempt-and-defer* scheme [Fine and Tobagi 1984]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For a more comprehensive review, see [Abeysundara and Kamal 1991].

and thus its operation is based on the principle of transmission cycles. A ready station first waits for the *end-of-carrier* (EOC) event on the outbound channel (denoted by EOC(OUT)). The station then starts its packet transmission, defering to transmissions by upstream stations. A station that has transmitted successfully will not detect EOC(OUT) in the current transmission cycle again. Thus, ready stations get only one transmission opportunity per cycle, ensuring fair scheduling among stations. The transmissions in a cycle form a train of packets on the inbound channel. The end of a packet train on the inbound channel (denoted by EOT(IN)) is used by all stations to start a new round.

If all stations are idle for a long period of time, there will be no EOC(OUT) event for a station to start a new transmission or EOT(IN) event for the stations to start a new round. Therefore, to avoid this, each *alive* station has to transmit a short burst of unmodulated carrier called *LOCOMOTIVE* when it detects EOT(IN). The *LOCOMOTIVE* will ensure that EOT(IN) event take place at regular intervals.

In [Marhic and Tobagi 1986], the details of a 10 Mbps fiber-optic implementation of the Expressnet are reported. The performance of Expressnet is discussed in [Tobagi et al. 1983]. In [Tobagi and Fine 1983], a detailed analysis and a performance comparison is made with the Fasnet network [Limb and Flores 1982] (to be described next). Expressnet has the advantage of achieving high channel utilization for a wider range of a values. Therefore, it appears to be suitable for operation at high speeds. A disadvantage, however, is the complexity of the access protocol, which may result in higher implementation costs [Tseng and Chen 1983].

#### 1.5.1.2. Fasnet

Fasnet [Limb and Flores 1982] is a conflict-free, implicit token-passing scheme utilizing two passive unidirectional buses (Figure 1.1.d). Referring to Figure 1.1.d, a station i wishing to transmit to a station j uses the R-L bus if i>j, and the L-R bus if i<j. This implies that each station should have a knowledge of the relative locations of the other stations on the network.



a. Bidirectional bus

Inbound Channel



Outbound Channel

b. Single-folded bus



c. Double-folded bus



d. Dual-unidirectional buses

Figure 1.1. Different bus architectures.

The operation of Fasnet is synchronous, with the time divided into *slots*. The time duration of a packet frame is one slot. The Access Control (AC) field preceding the packet contains three control bits. The START bit is set by the *head station* (the most upstream station on a bus) to indicate the start of a new cycle of transmissions. Stations read the BUSY bit to find out whether upstream stations are using the current slot for transmission. The END bit is used by the *end station* (the most downstream station on a bus) to inform the end of a cycle to the head station, so that a fresh cycle can be initiated. A normal station, after transmitting in a given frame, has to wait for the next *start of cycle* for its next transmission. This ensures the ordered fair access to the medium by all stations.

In [Fine and Tobagi 1984] and [Limb and Flores 1982], expressions are given for the channel utilization. In addition, in [Fine and Tobagi 1984], an expression for packet delay is obtained. With N continuously backlogged stations (and neglecting the length of the *access control field*), the channel utilization of Fasnet is given by N/(N+[2a]+1).

A disadvantage of Fasnet is that the interround overhead is at least two slots, even if the end-to-end propagation delay is very small. Because of this, the channel utilization is very low when the number of backlogged stations is small. Furthermore, unless packets are always exactly the size of a slot, some channel capacity is wasted due to the unused portion of a slot [Fine and Tobagi 1984]. Another drawback is that stations require a knowledge of the relative location of other stations on the network. Whenever there are station additions, removals or other changes in station locations, the location information in all stations therefore has to be updated accordingly.

#### 1.5.1.3. D-Net

D-net [Tseng and Chen 1983] is a LAN scheme designed for implementation with an optical fiber transmission medium. The architecture is a single-folded unidirectional bus (Figure 1.1.b). The medium access protocol of D-Net is very similar to that of Expressnet. The *Locomotive Generator* is centralized, in contrast to the distributed locomotive generation in Expressnet. The channel utilization and the packet delay of D-net are shown to be the same as that of Expressnet. However, D-Net has the additional advantage of simplicity. Compared to Expressnet, the topology is reduced from a double-folded to a single-folded bus. No *cold-start* procedure is required. The introduction of a separate *Locomotive Generator* simplifies the station design. A disadvantage however, is the vulnerability of the network to *Locomotive Generator* failures. Therefore, suitable redundancy measures have to be used to improve the network reliability.

#### 1.5.1.4. Buzz-Net

The Buzznet architecture [Gerla et al. 1983] consists of two unidirectional buses (Figure 1.1.d) as in Fasnet, and is designed to operate with optical fiber as the transmission medium. The access protocol is a hybrid of random access and virtual token schemes. A special *buzz* pattern is used to signify the transition from random access to virtual token controlled mode.

A ready station is initially in the random access mode. When both buses are sensed idle, the station transmits on both buses. If one bus is sensed busy, the station waits until that bus becomes idle to start transmission. If both buses are busy, the station moves to the *controlled access* mode. Then the station starts a *buzz* signal transmission procedure, described in detail in [Gerla et al. 1983]. The purpose of the *buzz* signal is to choose a station as the starter of the next cycle. Thus, at the end of this procedure, a transmission cycle in the *controlled access* mode is established with the leftmost station in the network starting the cycle. Each ready station then transmits when the L-R (left-to-right) bus becomes idle, while defering to upstream transmissions. At the end of the transmission cycle, when both buses are sensed idle for a period of  $2\tau$ , stations switch back to the *random access* mode.

The performance of Buzznet is evaluated in [Gerla and Wang 1987] and [Gerla et al. 1987] using simulation results and approximate analytic models. Simulation results of Buzznet and

several other protocols are presented in [Gerla et al. 1985]. The main advantage of Buzznet is its zero packet delay at light loads. A disadvantage of Buzznet is that, even with only two ready stations, a station may switch back and forth between the two access modes. Therefore, when load increases, the delay performance of Buzznet deteriorates rapidly. Further, the maximum achievable channel utilization (under heavy load) is given by N/(N+6a), compared to N/(N+2a) in Expressnet, where N is the number of stations.

#### 1.5.1.5. Token-less Protocols

In [Rodrigues et al. 1984], three versions of a protocol suitable for fiber-optic LANs with a dual-unidirectional bus architecture (Figure 1.1.d) are proposed.

The operation of the basic version of the token-less protocol (TLP-1) is as follows. A ready station waits for either EOC on a bus or the time-out event indicating the *network dead* (ND) condition. If ND event occurs first, the station has to perform the initialization procedure. If EOC on bus A (denoted by EOC(A), where A could be either R-L or L-R) is detected first, the station transmits an *activity signal* AS on bus A for  $\theta$  seconds (where  $\theta$  is the time taken by a station to detect BOC), notifying the downstream stations of the channel busy condition. If BOC(A) is detected within this  $\theta$  seconds, the station aborts transmission and allows the upstream station to continue. It then waits for the next EOC. If no BOC(A) is detected until the end of AS transmission, the station transmits its packet on both buses. At the end of the packet transmission, AS is transmitted on bus B (the other bus) until BOC(B) or the time-out ES (extreme station) occurs. This transmission of AS prevents an upstream station on bus A to transmit after detecting EOC(B). Thus, in the current round, the order of packet transmission is from the most upstream station to the most downstream on bus A. This can be viewed as a virtual token propagating from the upstream end to the downstream end on bus A in the current round.

A station where the time-out ES occurs, realizes that it is an extreme station on the bus. It then performs a *round restart* to begin the next round, allowing stations to transmit from the upstream to the downstream direction on bus B. Thus, the virtual token travels in one direction on one bus in one round and in the opposite direction on the other bus in the following round.

In the first version, TLP-1, even the idle stations have to transmit the AS. The virtual token moves between the two extreme powered-on stations even if they are not backlogged. In the second version (TLP-2), the token movement is limited between the extreme backlogged stations. From the performance results reported in [Rodrigues et. al :984], the delay performance of this version however, is worse than that of TLP-1.

In the above two versions, the time-out interval for the event ES is twice the end-to-end bus propagation delay  $\tau$ . In the third version (TLP-3) of the protocol, the assumption that extreme stations do not change frequently is used to reduce this overhead between two consecutive rounds. Here, an extreme station, when it gets channel access in a round, starts a fresh round in the other direction. If a newly powered-on station becomes an extreme station, the initialization procedure is performed after a packet collision to establish the new station as an extreme station. Out of the three token-less protocol versions proposed, TLP-3 is the best in a high speed LAN environment, because it could achieve a maximum channel utilization of (N/(N+a)), where N is the number of stations.

#### 1.5.1.6. Distributed Queue Dual Bus (DQDB)

DQDB (or, QPSX-Queued Packet and Synchronous Circuit Exchange, as it was known earlier) is a slotted system using the dual-unidirectional bus architecture (Figure 1.1.d). The architectural features of DQDB are described in [Budrikis et al. 1986] and the Distributed Queueing (DQ) protocol used in DQDB is described in [Newman and Hullet 1986]. [Newman et al. 1988] discusses the application of DQDB and the DQ protocol as a metropolitan area network. DQDB is being considered by the IEEE for its 802.6 MAN standard project [IEEE 1990].

A head station (called the Network Controller NC, at the upstream end of a bus) generates the frame synchronization on one bus and the end station generates the frame pattern at the same rate on the other bus. The duration of a frame is 125  $\mu$ s (sampling period used in digital telephony) and a frame is subdivided into fixed length packet slots. The slots can be utilized on a circuit-switched as well as packet-switched basis. The network controller reserves some slots of a frame tor synchronous use and allocates them to stations that have requested synchronous packets. Slots not reserved for synchronous circuits are available for packet switched communication. The access to these slots is determined according to the DQ protocol described below.

The access protocol for each bus is independent and identical. Therefore, the description of the DQ protocol here applies to the R-L bus, with the understanding that a similar protocol is employed on the L-R bus. The protocol uses two control bits, namely BUSY and REQ. The BUSY bit at the head of each slot indicates whether the slot is full and already being in use. When a station has a packet for transmission on the R-L bus, it sets a REQ bit on the L-R bus. This indicates to the upstream stations on the R-L bus that an additional station is awaiting access. Each station maintains a record of the number of stations queued downstream from itself by counting the REQ bits (in a RQ counter) as they pass on the L-R bus. Each time an empty slot passes on the R-L bus, the RQ counter is decremented by one. This is done because the empty slot that passes by will be used by one of the ready downstream stations.

When a station i becomes ready, it transfers the current value of the RQ counter to a second counter called the countdown counter CD, and the RQ counter is reset to zero. The CD counter thus has the number of downstream stations awaiting access at the time station i becomes ready. CD counter is then decremented for every empty slot that passes on the R-L bus. When the CD count reaches zero, station i transmits its packet in the first empty slot that passes by. This machanism ensures the FIFO order of packet transmissions on a bus.

During the time that a ready station awaits its turn to transmit, new REQs received on the L-R bus are added to the RQ counter. Therefore the RQ count will still be correct for the next transmission access.

In DQDB, priority operation can be achieved by having separate distributed queues for each level of priority. A separate REQ bit on the L-R bus for each level of priority and separate RQ counters for each priority level are used. A RQ counter operating at a particular level will count REQs at the same and higher priority levels. A CD counter operating at a particular priority level will, in addition to counting down the passing empty segments, be incremented for REQs received at higher priority levels. This allows the higher priority data packets to claim access ahead of already queued data packets.

From the above description, DQDB has obvious similarities to the Fasnet [Limb and Flores 1982]. These are the dual unidirectional bus architecture, the slotted nature of the access protocol and the use of a specific bit (namely, the BUSY bit) to indicate that a slot is in use. The use of the distributed queue does away with the need for transmission cycles.

In [Newman et al. 1988], the access delays (as a function of network loading) of DQ protocol and token ring protocols are compared. The DQ protocol is shown to be superior to the token ring in terms of access delay. At light load, the RQ counter of a station will be zero with high probability. Therefore, at light load, when a station becomes ready, it can transmit in the next slot, which would be free with high probability too. Thus, at very light load, the access delay of a station will be in the order of a slot. In a token ring, at light load, the access delay will be between zero and the total ring propagation delay. A major advantage of the DQDB protocol is that the maximum achievable channel utilization remains very high (very close to 1), irrespective of a. Therefore, it appears to be an ideal network to operate in a high speed environment. In DQDB, as in Fasnet [Limb and Flores 1982], stations require a knowledge of the relative location of other stations on the network. This makes possible two concurrent transmissions on the buses, resulting in higher network throughput. However, this will be a disadvantage if there are frequent station additions, removals or other station location changes in the network. It is also important to incorporate suitable redundancy measures at the head stations to enhance the reliability of the network. At high a values (i.e., with a large end-to-end propagation delay and a comparatively small slot period) and high load, the DQDB protocol does not appear to be fair in its bandwidth allocation. Several papers [Filipiak 1989; Wong 1989; Hahne et al. 1990; Conti et al. 1990; Kaur and Campbell 1990] discuss how the DQDB protocol could behave in an unfair manner. [Filipiak 1989] and [Hahne et al. 1990] propose mechanisms to improve the fairness of the DQDB protocol. The mechanism proposed in [Hahne et al. 1990] has been adopted by the IEEE 802.6 standard for metropolitan area networks [IEEE 1989].

#### 1.5.2. Ring Networks

A ring or a loop network can be considered as a sequence of point-to-point links closed in on itself [Penney and Baghdadi 1979a]. In ring networks, stations are generally connected to the ring using active interfaces. Signals are regenerated and repeated at each node. This allows larger separation between stations than in bus networks, but introduces at least one bit delay at each station interface. An often quoted disadvantage is the vulnerability of rings due to single node failures. Variations to the basic ring topology, such as dual counter-rotating rings, node skipping links with each node joined to its two immediate predecessors, bypassing failed nodes etc., have been considered to improve the network reliability. Generally, in ring networks a monitor station is required for ring initialization, re-establishing loss of control and handling other error conditions.

Well known medium access protocols based on ring topology are token rings, slotted rings, and register-insertion rings. Token-based protocols use a unique pattern called the control token to grant medium access rights to each node. The token is passed from one node to the adjacent node around the ring in one direction. A ready station has to first wait for a free token to come by. Once a free token is received, it is marked as busy and packet transmission is started. At the end of transmission, the transmitting station releases a new free token. Various token-passing schemes are possible depending on the time the free token is introduced and whether the transmitted packet is removed from the ring by the sending station or the receiving station. For example, in the IEEE 802.5 token ring, a new token is released once the header portion of the transmitted packet returns after one complete rotation.<sup>2</sup> In [Xu and Herzog 1988], a token ring protocol is described where packets are partially removed by the receiving station. An advantage of tokenpassing protocols is that the packet delay can be bounded, because of the absence of collisions. A major disadvantage is the initial waiting time to receive a free token even at very light loads. This initial waiting time could be appreciable, especially in large rings. As a means of reducing this initial delay, a token ring protocol using multiple tokens is proposed in [Kamal 1990a]. It is shown that multiple tokens improve the delay performance at light load, but slightly decrease the maximum achievable throughput if the number of tokens used is large. Increasing the number of tokens beyond a certain limit is shown to result in rapid performance degradation at high load, because of increased token overhead.

In slotted rings, one or more fixed-size slots circulate around the ring. A *ready* station awaits the arrival of an idle slot, marks it full, and inserts data in the data field of the slot. Several variations of the protocol are possible depending on the number of slots used and whether a used slot is marked *empty* by the source or the destination. The Cambridge Ring [Wilkes and Wheeler 1979] is an example of a slotted ring LAN in which a used slot is marked empty by the source. [Metzner 1985] and [Kamal 1990b] describe slotted ring protocols where a used slot is marked empty by the destination, while providing for acknowledgements. The protocol in [Kamal 1990b] requires a message to consist of a multiple number of packets and therefore relies on the use of a large number of small slots.

A new slotted-ring protocol is proposed in [Kamal and Hamacher 1990]. An important feature of the protocol is the reduced overhead in multi-packet message transmissions. Unlike in conventional slotted-rings, only the first packet of a multi-packet message contains the source and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This is to facilitate the change of ring priority through requests.

destination addresses. In the subsequent packets, a *continuation* bit indicates that it is an intermediate packet of a multi-packet message. Another feature is the use of all empty slots received (including the slots used by the station in transmitting previous packets of the same message) until all packets of the message are transmitted. Simulation results show that, compared to conventional slotted-ring and token ring, the new protocol achieves improved performance at low and medium utilizations. However, it is noted that an implementation would be more complex and error recovery more difficult.

In register insertion rings [Hafner et al. 1974; Liu 1978], each *ready* station stores the data to be transmitted in a *transmit* shift register. When a suitable idle point on the ring is found, this register is switched in series with the medium and its contents are transmitted. During transmission, any incoming data received from preceding stations are temporarily stored in a *receive* shift register. In the register insertion scheme proposed in [Hafner et. al 1974], when the transmitted packet returns to the *receive* register after one complete rotation, the register is switched out of the ring. This way, the sender removes its transmitted data from the ring. Liu employs a variation to this technique where a packet is removed from the ring by the destination [Liu 1978]. As in slotted rings, an advantage of the register insertion rings is that several packets can be in transit simultaneously, resulting in high channel utilization. Further, in register insertion rings, the medium acquisition delay can be very small, and practically zero at very light load.

A comprehensive 'arvey of ring networks is contained in [Penney and Baghdadi 1979a,b]. In [Saltzer et al. 1981], a comparison of a token-based ring with a contention-based broadcast bus (specifically, the Ethernet [Metcalfe and Boggs 1976]) is made. The comparison is based on a variety of technical and operational factors. It is concluded that one cannot make a clear case for either the contention-based bus or the token-based ring. A performance comparison of token, slotted and register-insertion ring protocols with other LAN protocols is done in [Liu et al. 1982] and [Stallings 1984b]. In [Davies and Ghani 1983], a comparative study of four ring protocols is presented. The performance of several slotted ring protocols is evaluated in [Zafirovic-Vukotic et al. 1988]. Approximate analytic models for slotted ring protocols (specifically, for Cambridge ring) are developed in [King and Mitrani 1987]. Kamal and Hamacher show how their approximate analysis of multiserver polling systems can be applied to obtain waiting time in a slotted ring [Kamal and Hamacher 1989].

Recently proposed ring networks designed to operate at high data rates include the Cambridge Fast Ring [Temple 1983; Hopper and Needham 1988] and the FDDI protocol [Ross 1986, 1989]. The operation and the performance of these schemes are described below.

#### 1.5.2.1. Cambridge Fast Ring (CFR)

The Cambridge fast ring [Temple 1983; Hopper and Needham 1988] is similar in principle to the Cambridge Ring [Wilkes and Wheeler 1979]. It is designed to carry a raw data rate of 100 Mbps using a transmission medium such as coaxial or fiber optic cable.

The architecture of CFR consists of one or more rings connecting different types of nodes. These nodes could be *stations*, *monitors* and *bridges*. Devices are connected to the ring through stations. A monitor is used in each ring to initialize and maintain the slot structure and for fault handling. Rings are connected together in a back-to-back fashion using bridges. An integral number of fixed-size slots circulate in the ring.

A ready station has to wait for an empty slot to come by to transmit its data. It converts a specific bit (the F/E bit) of an empty slot to *Full* and transmits its packet. At the destination, the receiver may copy the information and sets the appropriate bits in the CRC field as a response to the sender. Thus, in addition to an error check, CRC is used for providing feedback information from the receiver to the sender. CRC is also used in passing control information from the sender to the receiver [Hopper and Needham 1988]. After a packet transmission, the sender waits for the used slot to return and marks it empty. This prevents hogging of ring bandwidth by busy stations.

In CFR, two types of slots, namely, *normal* and *channel*, are used. A *normal* slot has to be marked empty (as mentioned above) by the sender when it returns, even if the station has a

backlog of packets for transmission. A *channel* slot however, can be used by a station for consecutive packet transmissions. Therefore, this mode could be used for the transfer of long data streams between two stations.

In CFR, approximately 16% of a slot are overhead bits. This is in contrast to about 58% overhead in the Cambridge ring [Wilkes and Wheeler 1979]. The performance of CFR is discussed in [Temple 1983] and [Hopper and Needham 1988]. In [Hopper and Needham 1988], expressions are obtained for the system bandwidth and the point-to-point bandwidth under *normal* and *channel* modes. In [Temple 1983], the maximum point-to-point bandwidth in *normal* mode and *channel* mode are shown for different ring lengths and number of stations. These figures indicate that the point-to-point bandwidth of a single ring could be very low (9.3 Mbps with four slots and supporting a maximum of 30 stations) in *normal* mode. As a way of achieving high point-to-point bandwidth, the use of small rings with many bridges is recommended, while keeping the packet transfer time of a bridge small. With this configuration, however, the performance of bridges, especially under heavy load plays an important role in the overall performance of a CFR network.

## 1.5.2.2. Fiber Distributed Data Interface (FDDI)

FDDI is a protocol standard proposed by the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) Committee X3T9.5 responsible for HSLANs. The protocol is an enhancement of IEEE 802.5 token-ring, to operate at a data rate of 100 Mbps using an optical fiber medium. An introduction to FDDI is given in [Ross 1986,1989].

FDDI topology consists of two independent fiber optic rings, each carrying data in opposite directions at a rate of 100 Mbps. If one ring fails, the other one is used to reconfigure the network. This improves the overall availability of the network, minimizing complete station isolation due to link failures.

A ready station has to capture a free token before it could transmit. After the transmission of one or more data packets, the transmitting station appends a new token. The sender is responsible for removing its packet from the ring when it returns after one rotation. Two timers are maintained in every station, the token rotation timer and the token holding timer. Each station measures the token rotation time (TRT), which is the time between the receipt of two consecutive free tokens. The token holding time (THT) limits the time for transmission of asynchronous packets by a station at token capture. THT is calculated as the maximum of zero and (TTRT - TRT). TTRT is the *target* token rotation time, decided during the initialization phase through a bidding process. Each station requests a TTRT value equal to one half of the maximum acceptable delay. At the end of the negotiation, the minimum TTRT requested becomes the operative TTRT for all stations [Dykeman and Bux 1988].

The priority mechanism of FDDI supports *synchronous* (high priority) and *asynchronous* (low priority) traffic modes. After gaining channel access, a station first transmits synchronous packets. Then it can transmit asynchronous packets if the token has been received within the TTRT. With asynchronous traffic, eight priority levels are possible.

Two important properties of the FDDI protocol have been proved in [Sevcik and Johnson 1987]. The first is that the *average* TRT is bounded from above by the TTRT. The second is that the *maximum* TRT is at most twice the TTRT. These properties guarantee that the protocol provides bounded delay for time-critical messages.

In [Schill and Zicher 1987], performance results of simulation experiments done on the FDDI protocol are reported. They have concluded that the throughput and realtime behaviour of the FDDI protocol cannot be optimized simultaneously, as they require opposite values of TTRT. For example, a high value of TTRT results in high throughput, as it allows a station to transmit several packets after one token capture. This minimizes the impact of token passing overhead, especially with long rings. A high TTRT however, causes a long channel access time for stations at high load. This results in a deterioration of real-time behaviour of the protocol. Therefore, by

appropriate setting of TTRT, the FDDI protocol can either be tuned for optimum throughput or optimum real-time behaviour, but both cannot be optimized simultaneously.

Another paper that deals with the performance of FDDI protocol is [Dykeman and Bux 1988]. The performance results have led to a conclusion similar to that of [Schill and Zicher 1987], which is the trade-off between the throughput efficiency and the delay performance. Results have also revealed a potentially severe problem with the tuning of the protocol parameters - the relative performance of the priority levels strongly depends on the number of transmitting stations. Therefore, in order to guarantee a specified performance level for lower priority stations, it is necessary to adapt the parameters dynamically to the number of transmitting stations. This could be a very difficult task in practice.

#### 1.5.3. Star Networks

In comparison to bus and ring LANs, less attention has been paid to the development of star LANs. The reasons could probably be the vulnerability of the network due to a central hub failure and the additional wiring costs compared to bus and ring topologies. However, star networks have the following advantages over other networks [Kamal 1987]: ready suitability for optical-fiber based implementations because of the point-to-point links from end nodes to the central hub, very high throughputs are achievable, and simpler end nodes (as most of the complexities are contained in the central hub).

Fibernet [Rawson and Metcalfe 1978], Hubnet [Lee and Boulton 1983] and Fibernet II [Schmidt et al. 1983] are examples of LAN schemes based on the star topology. Fibernet uses a passive central hub while Fibernet II uses an active hub. Both schemes use the 1-persistent CSMA/CD as the medium access protocol. Therefore, as already discussed, their performance degrades rapidly when a approaches 0.5. The architecture, operation and performance aspects of Hubnet are described below.
In [Kamal 1987], the performance of several star protocols is analyzed in depth using mathematical models. A new access protocol for star networks is proposed based on a semaphore mechanism. The performance of the new protocol is shown to outperform the token ring protocol and the star protocols considered. Another recent LAN scheme based on the star topology is described in [Mehmet-Ali et al. 1988]. The approach used is fast circuit switching using a central crosspoint switch.

#### 1.5.3.1. Hubnet

Hubnet [Lee and Boulton 1983] is a LAN operating at a data rate of 50 Mbps, recently upgraded to work at 100 Mbps. The network architecture consists of a pair of matching rooted trees (called the *selection tree* and the *broadcast tree*), with optical fiber as the transmission medium. The two trees are rooted at a central node called the *hub*. The internal nodes in the trees are called *subhubs*, which are very similar to the root hub. Stations are connected to the corresponding leaves of the two trees through intelligent devices called *Network Access Controllers* (NACs). A NAC acts as an interface between the stations and the network. Each NAC can accomodate several stations.

Packets are transmitted on the selection tree. They are forwarded by each intermediate subhub towards the root hub. Once arrived at the selection side of the root hub, packets are sent to the broadcast side of the hub through the link connecting the two sides. Packets are broadcast from the root of the broadcast tree to reach all NACs. A packet received on the broadcast tree is ignored by all NACs except the destination and the source NACs. The destination NAC sends the packet to the addressed station if the checksum is correct. The source NAC treats the reception of its own packet (called the *echo signal*) on the broadcast tree as a kind of low level acknowledgement. If the echo signal is not received within a predetermined time (called the *retry time*, which depends on the round-trip propagation delay between the NAC and the central hub) the source NAC assumes that the packet has not been received by any NAC and retransmits it.

When a packet arrives at a subhub or the root hub which is busy (i.e., while processing another packet), it is ignored. Now, as there will not be an echo signal, the source NAC, after the retry time interval, will retransmit its packet. A new packet is not transmitted until the echo signal of the previous packet is received. Therefore, if a NAC has a long retry time (i.e., a NAC that could be far away from the central hub), then it could experience longer delays under heavy load conditions.

Results reported in [Lee and Boulton 1983] show that, with increasing number of NACs, longer message lengths cause link saturation at low packet generation rates. If the message length is short, on the other hand, the effective data rate on the network will become low as the proportion of frame overhead increases with decreasing message lengths.

Experimental results of performance of the Hubnet are reported in [Lee et al. 1988]. These results show that, at low loads a high precentage of packets are successfully delivered at the first attempt itself. As the load increases however, the number of retries required for the successful delivery of a packet increases. In fact, there is a non-zero probability that a packet suffers infinite delay due to very large number of retries that may be required. This is because, in the existing implementations, all NACs attempting to access the network have an equal probability of success at any time. As a result, there is no mechanism to avoid the possibility of an infinite series of contentions in which one particular NAC always loses.

A recent study on the behaviour of Hubnet is reported in [Hassanein and Kamal 1990]. The study has revealed that, contrary to the intuitive belief, increasing the retry time does not necessarily result in higher packet delay. For fixed packet lengths in a symmetric network, they show that packets which are integer multiples of the retry time could experience lower delays than with the employment of some lower retry times. Further, they show how this specific property can be used to implement priority classes in Hubnet.



## 1.5.4. Multi-channel Local Area Networks (MLANs)

Figure 1.2. Architecture of Multi-channel LANs.

The architecture of MLANs consists of a set of parallel channels connected to all stations (Figure 1.2). The channels need not necessarily be physically separate; they can be obtained by dividing the bandwidth of a single physical connection [Marsan and Roffinella 1983]. The use of a multiple number of parallel channels could provide a very high aggregate bandwidth, while keeping the data rate on each individual channel low. Therefore, the normalized propagation delay **a** on each channel can be kept sufficiently low, thus avoiding any performance degradation observed with high **a** on a single high data rate channel. Other advantages of MLANs are [Marsan and Roffinella 1983]:

- (a). The architecture is modular, allowing gradual system growth.
- (b). Increased reliability and fault tolerance due to the redundant network architecture. The failure of a single channel will have a very limited impact on the network performance.
- (c). Well established technologies can be used for the channel interfaces, as their individual data rates are low. Therefore, even though a higher number of channel interfaces are required, they offer an overall cost advantage over high speed channel interfaces

required for high bandwidth single channels providing the same bandwidth.

An analysis of the performance of MLAN architectures is contained in [Chlamtac and Ganz 1988]. In [Marsan and Roffinella 1983], several multiple-access schemes for MLANs based on non-persistent CSMA and CSMA/CD protocols are proposed and analyzed. Two alternatives (namely, RC-Random choice, and IC-Idle channel choice) have been considered in choosing a channel by a station for its packet transmission. In RC, a ready station chooses a channel randomly before sensing it. In IC, a ready station randomly chooses a channel among those that are sensed idle. In RC approach, it is possible that packets are rescheduled even when some channels are idle. In IC, however, packets are rescheduled only when all channels are busy. It is shown that significant throughput increases with respect to the single channel case can be obtained by splitting the available bandwidth into parallel channels. The multi-channel CSMA/CD protocol with idle channel choice is shown to be the most efficient scheme, out of the protocol versions considered. In [Du et. al 1989], the idea is extended to allow a station to choose and transmit on a number of channels simultaneously, rather than just one channel. If at least one of the transmission attempts is successful, transmission is continued to end. Both the RC and IC strategies could be employed with this modified protocol. Simulation results indicate that this modified protocol is superior in performance to the original one.

## 1.6. Contributions and Outline of the Thesis

The main contribution in this thesis is to propose two new medium access protocols for dual-bus, fiber-optic local area networks and to analyze their performance. The two new protocols are named Z-Net and X-Net, and they are shown to perform satisfactorily in the high speed domain (i.e., even when the normalized propagation delay a exceeds 1). In addition to achieving better performance compared to some of the already proposed HSLANs, the two new schemes overcome some drawbacks in existing LAN schemes. Both protocols are completely distributed, in the sense that all stations execute the identical medium access protocol. Therefore, the vulnera-

bility of the network to a single station failure is minimized. Stations do not require the knowledge of the relative locations of other stations in the network. Therefore, whenever a station location is changed, the information in other stations need not be updated. Analytic and simulation models have been developed to study the performance of the proposed protocols. The performance analysis shows that the channel utilization of Z-Net and X-Net does not deteriorate rapidly as a approaches 1. Both protocols exhibit bounded delay properties at all offered loads, making them suitable for supporting real-time traffic.

In the next chapter, the network architectures and the medium access protocols of Z-Net and X-Net are described. Chapter 3 contains the development of analytic models to study their performance. In Chapter 4, the performance of the proposed schemes is evaluated using the analytic and simulation results. Then the performance of Z-Net and X-Net are compared with other recently proposed bus LAN schemes. The final chapter (Chapter 5) contains concluding remarks and directions for further research. Proofs of lemmas and other detailed derivations are relegated to the appendices at the end of the respective chapters.

#### Chapter 2

## Network Architecture and the Medium Access Protocols of Z-Net and X-Net

## 2.1. Need for New Medium Access Protocols

In the previous chapter, we have discussed the need for high speed LANs and the rapid performance degradation of some of the existing LANs at high speeds (i.e., when the normalized propagation delay, **a**, approaches or exceeds 1). Therefore, researchers have been working on new LAN protocols that yield satisfactory performance for a wide range of **a**. Some of these schemes have been reviewed in the previous chapter with their merits and drawbacks.

In this chapter, we propose two new local area network schemes (named Z-Net and X-Net), that are suitable for operation at high speeds. First, the architectural features of the two networks are described. Then the salient features of the medium access protocols are described. In the last part of the chapter, features that are specific to the medium access protocols of Z-Net and X-Net are described with the aid of state diagrams. In the subsequent chapters, we model and study their performance and show that the proposed protocols indeed yield satisfactory performance even when a exceeds 1.

#### 2.2. Architectural Features

The network architecture of Z-Net and X-Net consists of two unidirectional fiber optic buses (Figure 2.1). This architecture has several advantages: compared to the single folded bus, two independent buses can support more stations. This is because, there are fewer connection taps per bus, resulting in lower aggregate signal losses. In the case of a single bus failure, depending on the access protocol, the other bus may be used to achieve partial one-way communication among stations, or at least to detect the failure and communicate it to other stations, so that recovery action is possible. Further, depending on the access protocol again, the two buses may be used for two independent communications (as in Fasnet [Limb and Flores 1982] and DQDB [IEEE 1990]. A disadvantage of this topology over the single-folded (used in D-Net [Tseng and Chen 1983]) or double-folded bus (used in Expressnet [Tobagi et. al. 1983]) architecture is the requirement for an additional set of transmitting taps. The choice of optical fiber as the transmission medium is justified by the desirable properties they have over other media, discussed in the previous chapter.



Figure 2.1. Dual-unidirectional bus architecture

In Z-Net, stations are connected to the R-L bus using passive switches (or taps), while active switches are used on the L-R bus. The X-Net architecture is similar, except that active switches are used on both buses. The operation of active switches is based on the electrooptic effect - the index of refraction of a crystal changes in proportion to an applied electric field. One possible implementation of an active switch consists of fabricating a waveguide in a crystal of a dielectric material such as LiNbO<sub>3</sub> (Lithium Niobate) [Korotky and Alferness 1988]. A detailed description of the construction and operation of active switches is contained in [Alferness 1982] and [Korotky and Alferness 1988]. In [Maxemchuk 1988], the use of active and passive switches in fiber optic LANs has been discussed. Figures 2.2 and 2.3 show the signal strengths at different points when passive and active switches are used to interface the stations to the fiber-optic buses [Maxemchuk 1988]. In these figures, X denotes the signal received from the upstream side of a fiber bus, Y is the signal injected by a station on the fiber, and  $\alpha$  is the tap ratio. The *tap ratio* represents the proportion of the signal X that is passed to the downstream side of the fiber through

the switch. In a passive switch, the tap ratio  $\alpha$  is fixed. With  $\alpha$  close to 1.0, a passive switch allows signals received from the upstream side of a fiber bus to pass through the switch to the downstream segment (Figure 2.2). With active switches, the tap ratio can be varied between 0 and 1 by applying a voltage V (thus,  $\alpha$  now is denoted by  $\alpha(V)$ ). With a high value of  $\alpha(V)$ , a station could sense (and copy, if necessary) the signals received from upstream section of a bus without discontinuing the signal flow. With a high value of V (thereby lowering  $\alpha(V)$ ), a station could divert the signal flow towards point R (Figure 2.3), discontinuing the signal propagation. Thus, with the use of active switches, a station may either allow the optical signal received from the upstream side of a bus to flow towards the downstream section (i.e., from point U to D in Figure 2.3), or discontinue the signal propagation.



Figure 2.2. Passive switch interfacing a station to a bus

#### 2.3. Salient Features of the Medium Access Protocols

As Z-Net and X-Net both employ hybrid-access protocols, stations can be in a *random* or *controlled* mode of operation. In X-Net, stations could additionally be in a *transient* mode. The following description applies equally to Z-Net and X-Net protocols, unless one scheme is mentioned specifically.

(a). All stations continuously monitor activities on both buses. Depending on the individual observations of each station on bus activities, each station switches from its present mode



Figure 2.3. Active switch interfacing a station to a bus

to another. After initialization (or, at very light load), all stations will be in the *random* mode. In the *random* mode, if buses are sensed idle, a ready station starts its packet transmission immediately. As stations do not have to know the locations of other stations on the network, packets are transmitted on both buses simultaneously.

- (b). If more than one station starts transmission in the *random* mode, packet collisions are possible. In the case of collisions, the access protocol allows one station to continue its transmission to completion, while other stations abort their transmissions. This is in contrast to schemes where all simultaneous transmissions are aborted and reattempted subsequently.
- (c). Stations in the *random* mode switch to the *controlled* mode (in Z-Net) or *transient* mode (in X-Net), when they detect a signal (including signals of their own transmissions) on any bus. From the instant of leaving the *random* mode, all stations individually start counting the lengths of time intervals during which both the buses are sensed idle. We use ITC to denote this *idle time counting* operation. The total sum of the idle periods observed up to some time instant by a station i since the start of its ITC operation is called the *accumulated idle time* (AIT) of station i at that instant and is denoted by AIT<sub>i</sub>. A station uses its AIT value to determine when to switch to the next mode.

- (d). A transmission cycle in which transmission opportunities are offered to the stations in the right-to-left (left-to-right) direction is termed an R-L (L-R) cycle. In Z-Net, the cycles of transmissions are always of type R-L. In X-Net, the cycles alternate between R-L and L-R. This results in a performance improvement, as will be seen later, since this does away with an end-to-end propagation delay in detecting the end of a cycle.
- In the R-L (L-R) cycle, if a station becomes ready while the R-L (L-R) bus is busy, it starts (c). transmission when the R-L (L-R) bus becomes idle. During the packet transmission, if BOC (beginning-of-carrier) is detected on the R-L (L-R) bus, transmission is aborted and the upstream transmission on the R-L (L-R) bus is allowed to progress. The AIT counter (the counter used to record the AIT value) is reset to zero and a fresh counting is started. Packet transmission is attempted again when the R-L (L-R) bus becomes idle. During transmission in the R-L (L-R) cycle, if BOC is detected on the L-R (R-L) bus, the station continues its transmission to completion. The upstream transmission on the L-R (R-L) bus is not allowed to progress any further down the L-R (R-L) bus. The station achieves this by applying a voltage V to the active switch on the L-R (R-L) bus at the beginning of its transmission and setting  $\alpha(V)$  to a very low value. In the case of collisions, the use of active taps thus allows one station (which is the ready station that is most upstream on the R-L (L-R) bus in the R-L (L-R) cycle) to always complete its transmission successfully. Note that in Z-Net, as the cycles are always of type R-L, the use of active switches is necessary only on the L-R bus. In X-Net, as both types of cycles are present, active switches are used on both buses.

The following sections describe the features specific to the Z-Net and X-Net protocols with the aid of state diagrams. We start by Z-Net, since its protocol is simpler. Then, we show how the principles used in Z-Net are extended in X-Net for improving the performance.

## 2.4. Z-Net

The Z-Net protocol is based on two principles:

- (a). A transmitting station defers to the upstream transmissions on the R-L bus. This operation can be achieved by using either passive or active taps on the R-L bus. Therefore, passive taps are used in interfacing stations to the R-L bus, since they are less expensive.
- (b). When a transmitting station detects signals from the upstream side of the L-R bus, it continues its transmission to completion. The signals received from the upstream side of the L-R bus are not allowed to propagate to the downstream segment of the bus. This operation is achieved by using active taps on the L-R bus. Prior to the start of its transmission, a station applies a voltage V to the active tap on the L-R bus. This isolates the downstream segment of the L-R bus from its upstream segment, thereby discontinuing the upstream signal propagation on the L-R bus.

In Z-Net, stations could be either in the *random* or the *controlled* mode. A station in the *random* mode switches to the *controlled* mode when it detects a signal on a bus. While in the *controlled* mode, when the AIT value of a station reaches  $(2\tau+\delta)$ , where  $\delta$  is a very small time delay that accounts for inter-packet gaps,<sup>1</sup> the station switches back to the *random* mode. This denotes the end of the current transmission cycle. ITC is then terminated. If the station is ready at this time, it starts transmission immediately (as it is in the *random* mode now), thereby starting a new cycle. Two consecutive transmission opportunities of a station are therefore separated by at least a time interval of  $(2\tau+\delta)$ .

- **Lemma 2.1:** In the *controlled* mode of Z-Net, a station observing an AIT of  $(2\tau+\delta)$  between two consecutive successful packet transmissions gives an opportunity to:
  - (a) all downstream stations on the R-L bus to transmit in the current cycle, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Appendix 2.1 for an expression for  $\delta$ .

(b) all upstream stations on the R-L bus to start the next cycle.

Proof: Sec Appendix 2.1.

When simultaneous transmissions take place, as a station defers to upstream transmissions on the R-L bus, higher numbered stations in Figure 2.1 have higher priority over lower numbered ones during a given cycle. However, the protocol does not allow unfair use of channel bandwidth by higher numbered stations because, according to Lemma 2.1 and the operation of the protocol, each station has a chance to transmit only one packet during a cycle.

The access protocol of Z-Net can be specified by a state diagram (Figure 2.4) with four states: *Idle, Ready, Txmit* and *Txmitted.* The station behaviour under each state is as follows:

- *Idle*: A station whose transmission buffer is empty is in this state. The station could either be in the *random* or the *controlled* mode.
- *Ready* : A station with a non-empty transmission buffer, awaiting its turn to transmit is in this state.

*Txmit*: A station in this state is in the process of transmitting a packet.

*Txmitted* : As will be explained later, the completion of a packet transmission does not necessarily guarantee that it will be received intact by the destination. If a station is not certain about the fate of its transmitted packet (as will be explained in the next few paragraphs), at the end of a transmission it moves from the *Txmit* state to the *Txmitted* state. The station then remains in this state until such time it can determine the destiny of the transmitted packet by observing channel activities. If the channel observations indicate that the packet may not have reached the receiver, the station moves from the *Txmitted* state to the *Ready* state to attempt retransmitting the packet at the next opportunity to gain access to the channel.

When a station in the *random* mode detects BOC on a bus, it considers this event as the start of a cycle. The time elapsed from the start of a cycle until some other time instant before the end



EOC-RL : end of carrier on R-L bus

ACL : accumulated cycle length

Idle Time Counting (ITC) is performed in all states except 'Transmit' when a station is in 'Controlled' mode of transmission.

Figure 2.4. State Diagram of Z-Net

of this cycle is defined as the *accumulated cycle length* (ACL) of the station up to that time instant. The ACL value of station i is denoted by  $ACL_i$ .

A station i in the *Idle* state moves to the *Ready* state when it receives a packet for transmission. When in the *random* mode, if both buses are sensed idle, station i moves to the *Txmit* state and starts transmission immediately. With the completion of transmission, station i moves from the *Txmit* state to either the *Idle*, *Ready* or the *Txmitted* state, depending on the accumulated cycle length, ACL<sub>i</sub>, observed by it up to this time. Two cases are distinguished here, as stated in the following lemma:

Lemma 2.2: In Z-Net, when a station, i, completes its transmission, if ACL<sub>i</sub> is its accumulated cycle length, then it may infer the outcome of the transmitted packet on the L-R bus as follows:

(a) If  $ACL_i > 2\tau$ , then it is definite that the station i's transmission on the L-R bus has not been intercepted by an upstream station on the R-L bus (which is a down-stream station on the L-R bus).

(b) If  $ACL_i \le 2\tau$ , the uninterrupted completion of a transmission does not necessarily imply that station i's transmission has reached all stations downstream from i on the L-R bus (because of the uncertainity that the transmission on the L-R bus has been intercepted by an upstream station j on the R-L bus).

Proof: See Appendix 2.2.

Therefore, when  $ACL_i > 2\tau$ , station i assumes that its transmissions on both buses have been successful. It then moves from the *Txmit* state to the *ldle* state if its transmission buffer is empty. If its transmission buffer is non-empty (indicating that there is at least one more packet awaiting transmission), it moves to the *Ready* state.

If  $ACL_i \le 2\tau$ , however, as station i is uncertain of the outcome of its transmission on the L-R bus, at the end of the transmission, it moves from the *Txmit* state to the *Txmitted* state. If no BOC

is sensed on the R-L bus within  $2\tau$  from the beginning of the cycle, station i is assured that no upstream station on the R-L bus has intercepted its transmission on the L-R bus. Therefore, after the elapse of  $2\tau$  from the beginning of cycle, station i moves from the *Txmitted* state to the *Ready* state if its transmission buffer is non-empty. Otherwise, it moves to the *Idle* state. The time interval of  $2\tau$  used here is an upper bound. For a pair of transmitting and receiving stations, the value that has to be actually used is the round-trip propagation delay between the two stations. However,  $2\tau$  is used (with a minor penalty in performance) as a station is not required to know the relative location of other stations on the network.



Figure 2.5. Blocking of packets on the L-R bus by station j

If a station in the *Txmitted* state detects BOC on the R-L bus within  $2\tau$  from the beginning of the cycle, its transmission could still be successful, depending on the location of the receiver on the network. For example, consider the time-space diagram in Figure 2.5. In this diagram, the

vertical axis represents the time, with time values increasing in the downward direction. Locations of stations in the network are indicated in the horizontal direction, with station 1 at the left extreme and station N at the right extreme. A packet transmitted by station i propagating on the R-L bus is represented by two slanted parallel lines from station i to station 1. The same packet propagating on the L-R bus is represented by two slanted parallel lines from station i to station N. In the scenario illustrated in Figure 2.5, stations i and j are initially in the random mode. They start transmission as soon as they become ready (at time instants A and B in Figure 2.5). As j disconnects the L-R bus during its transmission, i's packet does not reach stations j+1,j+2,..,N. If the receiver of i's transmission is station k,  $(j \le N)$ , then i's transmission is unsuccesful. However, if the receiver is a station l such that l < j (see Figure 2.5), the blocking of i's packet on the L-R bus by station j does not affect the packet reception by station l. However, as station i is not required to know the receiver's location, it pessimistically assumes that its transmission had been unsuccessful. Therefore, the packet is retransmitted as soon as the R-L bus becomes idle (at time D in Figure 2.5). If i's transmission had actually been successful (i.e., the receiver is station l and it had in fact received the complete packet) these retransmissions have to be treated as duplicates by the receiver. Using lemma 2.3, a receiver can identify such duplicates.

**Lemma 2.3:** In Z-Net, if a station receives two complete packets (i.e., packets which have not been aborted halfway) from the same source before its AIT reaches  $(2\tau+\delta)$ , then the second packet is a duplicate of the first.

Proof: See Appendix 2.3.

Thus, a packet sequence number is not explicitly required by a receiver to identify and discard duplicate packets.

2.5. X-Net

According to the Z-Net protocol, a station has to wait at least a time interval of  $(2\tau+\delta)$  before it could transmit again. Therefore, the minimum time between the start of two consecutive

transmission cycles in Z-Net is approximately  $(T+2\tau)$ .<sup>2</sup> The idle time counting of  $2\tau$  is used by stations in Z-Net, as the stations are not required to know their locations on the buses. If the stations know their locations in the network, we can show that this knowledge can be utilized by stations to start the next cycle in the opposite direction (i.e., in the L-R direction) at an earlier time, thereby reducing the time interval between two consecutive cycles. The X-Net protocol is based on this principle. By imposing the requirement that each station knows its location (in terms of the propagation delay to the end of the buses)<sup>3</sup>, an R-L cycle is followed by an L-R cycle. As will be shown later, this reduces the wasted time between two consecutive cycles (averaged over a cycle) as seen by a station to  $\tau$ . Therefore, X-Net achieves superior performance compared to Z-Net.

An R-L cycle in X-Net is very similar to a cycle in Z-Net (where, cycles are always R-L). Therefore, in X-Net, in the R-L cycle, a transmitting station defers to upstream transmissions on the R-L bus. During its transmission, a station blocks transmissions received from the upstream side of the L-R bus. A station does this by activating the active switch on the L-R bus when it starts transmission. The station operation in the L-R cycle is similar to that in the R-L cycle, when R-L is replaced by L-R, and vice versa. Thus, in the L-R cycle, a transmitting station defers to the upstream transmissions on the L-R bus, while upstream transmissions on the R-L bus are blocked. Therefore, in X-Net, active switches are used on the R-L bus too, as mentioned under the architectural features.

In X-Net, a station can be in one of three modes : the *Random*, the *Transient*, or the *Controlled*. A station in the *random* mode will switch to the *transient* mode when it detects BOC on any bus. In the *transient* mode, a station will assume either an R-L cycle or an L-R cycle of transmissions. How a station decides which cycle to assume in the *transient* mode will be described later. In the *transient* mode, only one cycle (either R-L or L-R) is allowed, and then the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This is with just one transmission in a cycle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This can be determined by all stations during the network initialization.

next cycle of transmissions is established by transmitting a *Dummy* packet (denoted by *D-pkt*). A *D-pkt* is a very short packet of fixed length, which contains a uniquely identifiable pattern. It is transmitted on one bus only. Each station transmitting or detecting a *D-pkt* will assume the *controlled* mode. If the *D-pkt* is transmitted or detected on the R-L (L-R) bus, it denotes the start of an R-L (L-R) cycle. These *D-pkt* transmissions in X-Net are similar in concept to the *locomotive* transmissions in Expressnet [Tobagi et. al. 1983] and D-Net [Tseng and Chen 1983], and *buzz* signal in Buzznet [Gerla et. al. 1987]. Therefore, for the implementation of *D-pkts*, approaches adopted in these networks may be followed.

Under heavy load, when all or most of the stations are continuously backlogged, a station will continuously be in the *controlled* mode, alternating between the R-L and L-R cycles of transmissions. The switching from the R-L to the L-R cycle (and vice versa) in the *controlled* mode will be described later. When the network load decreases, each station will individually switch to the *random* mode, depending on the "number of consecutive *empty cycles*" that it has observed. An *empty cycle* is defined as a cycle with no transmissions, because each station happenes to be in the idle state when it gets the transmission opportunity.

## 2.5.1. Operation Under the Transient Mode

When more than one station start transmitting in the *random* mode simultaneously, packet collisions occur. The purpose of the *transient* mode is to resolve such collisions by establishing a cycle in the R-L or L-R direction and prepare the network to operate in a conflict-free *controlled* mode. After switching to the *transient* mode, a station assumes the R-L (or, the L-R) cycle as follows:

Before switching to the *random* mode, if the last *empty cycle* that the station had observed was an R-L (L-R) cycle, the station will assume an L-R (R-L) cycle. This principle ensures that at the start of the *transient* mode, all stations assume the same cycle (either R-L or L-R) in a consistent manner.

Suppose a station i has assumed the R-L (L-R) cycle in the *transient* mode. To switch from the *transient* mode to the *controlled* mode, and to establish the next L-R (R-L) cycle (which will be in the *controlled* mode), station i will transmit a *D-pkt* on the L-R (R-L) bus after a time interval  $T_{D,i}$ , measured from the start of the current cycle. If the station detects a *D-pkt* (from an upstream station on the L-R bus) before the elapse of the time interval  $T_{D,i}$ , it simply switches to *controlled* mode and assumes the L-R (R-L) cycle. The station does not transmit its own *D-pkt* now, because the *D-pkt* it detected would cause other downstream stations too to assume the L-R (R-L) cycle in the *controlled* mode.

In the R-L (L-R) cycle, the station i determines the time interval  $T_{D,i}$  as follows:

The station first waits for an interval of  $2\tau$  from the start of the current cycle. It then starts a fresh counting of AIT from zero. When the AIT reaches  $(2\tau_{i,1}+\delta)$  (or,  $(2\tau_{i,N}+\delta)$  in the L-R cycle), if the station has not already detected a *D-pkt*, a *D-pkt* is transmitted on the L-R (R-L) bus.  $\delta$  here is the same time delay used in Z-Net that takes into account the inter-packet gaps.<sup>4</sup>

Lemma 2.4: In the *transient* mode of X-Net, during the R-L (L-R) cycle, the station i (1≤i≤ N) waiting a time interval of T<sub>D,i</sub> (as determined above) to generate a *D-pkt* on the L-R (R-L) bus guarantees that:

(a) it has waited sufficient time to give opportunity to downstream stations on theR-L (L-R) bus to transmit in the current cycle,

(b) if it receives a D-pkt on the L-R (R-L) bus from an upstream station, it will either be:

- (i) before the generation time of its *D*-*pkt*, or,
- (ii) not later than the end of its *D-pkt* transmission.

Proof: See Appendix 2.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Appendix 2.1 for an expression for  $\delta$ .

During the transmission of a *D-pkt* on the L-R (R-L) bus, stations defer to the upstream transmissions on the L-R (R-L) bus. Therefore, eventually, only the most upstream powered-on station on the L-R (R-L) bus will complete its *D-pkt* transmission. With the end of the transmission or sensing of the *D-pkt*, each station will switch to the *controlled* mode. Then, each station will assume either the L-R or the R-L cycle, depending on which bus the *D-pkt* was transmitted or detected. Figures 2.6.a and 2.6.b are time-space diagrams showing the instants of *D-pkt* transmissions, when the packet lengths are large and small, respectively. As seen from Figure 2.6.b, when packet lengths are small (such that  $ACL_1 < (2\tau+\delta)$ ), the *D-pkt* transmission does not necessarily follow the last transmission in the cycle directly. This is to give an upstream station (on the R-L (L-R) bus in the R-L (L-R) cycle) a sufficient time to start the cycle should it become ready while in the *random* mode (i.e., before detecting any BOC on a bus and switching to the *transient* mode).

#### 2.5.2. Operation Under the Controlled Mode

In the *controlled* mode, all stations assume the R-L (L-R) cycle, with the sensing of the end of a *D-pkt* transmission on the R-L (L-R) bus. In both cycles, all stations perform the ITC operation. Further, each station counts the number of consecutive *empty cycles* that it observes in an *Empty Cycle Counter*, ECC. ECC is reset to zero at the end of a *non-empty* cycle. Lemma 2.5 is used by a station i  $(1 \le i \le N)$  to determine the end of a transmission cycle in the *controlled* mode.

**Lemma 2.5:** In X-Net, during the R-L (L-R) cycle in the *controlled* mode, when the AIT value of station i exceeds  $(2\tau_{i,1}+\delta)$  (or,  $(2\tau_{i,N}+\delta)$  in the L-R cycle), then station i has given sufficient time for all the other downstream stations to transmit in the current cycle.

Proof: See Appendix 2.5.

At the end of a cycle in the *controlled* mode, a station executes the following procedure either to start the next cycle, or to switch to the *random* mode:



(b). when packet lengths are short.

Figure 2.6. D-pkt transmissions in the transient mode of X-Net

```
if the cycle had been empty, then
    begin
          ECC := ECC + 1;
          if ECC < EC then
               begin
                    transmit a D-pkt on the L-R (R-L) bus;
               ond
          else
               begin
                    ECC := 0;
                    switch to the random mode;
               end
     end
else
     begin
          ECC := 0;
          transmit a D-pkt on the L-R (R-L) bus;
     end
```

According to the above description, transmissions in the *controlled* mode will consist of alternating R-L and L-R cycles, separated by *D-pkt* transmissions. In the above procedure, EC (denoting *Empty Cycles*) is an integer parameter set in all stations to the same value at the network initialization time, such that  $EC \ge 1$ . If EC=1, after observing one *empty cycle*, stations switch from the *controlled* mode to the *random* mode. When EC=3, for example, a station has to observe three consecutive *empty cycles* in the *controlled* mode before switching to the *random* mode.

The access protocol of X-Net can be represented by the state diagram shown in Figure 2.7. It consists of five states, four of which are *Idle, Ready, Txmit* and *Txmitted* as in the Z-Net state diagram. The station operation in these states is very similar to that in the Z-Net. The additional state in the X-Net protocol is the *D-Txmit* state. In this state, a station transmits a *D-pkt* on the R-L or the L-R bus, defering to upstream transmissions on that bus. As described later, the *Txmitted* state is applicable only when a station is in the *transient* mode and the *D-Txmit* state is applicable only when a station is in the *transient* mode.

In X-Net, a station in the *Idle* state can be in any of the three modes, *random*, *transient* or *controlled*. With the arrival of a packet, an idle station moves from the *Idle* to the *Ready* state. If

the station is in the *random* mode, it moves immediately from the *Ready* to the *Txmit* state, then switches to the *transient* mode, and assumes either R-L or L-R cycle (determined as described previously) to begin its packet transmission. At the completion of packet transmission, the transition from the *Txmit* state to the next st. z is influenced by whether the station is in the *transient* or the *controlled* mode. The transition from the *Txmit* state under each of these modes is described separately in the following paragraphs.

Case 1: Transition from the Txmit state in the Transient mode

In this case, at the completion of transmission, the station infers the outcome of its transmission using lemma 2.6. Based on this, the station moves from the *Txmit* to either the *Idle*, *Ready* or the *Txmitted* state.

Lemma 2.6: In the *transient* mode of X-Net, when a station, i, completes its transmission in the R-L (L-R) cycle, if ACL<sub>i</sub> is its accumulated cycle length, then it may infer the outcome of the transmitted packet on the L-R (R-L) bus as follows:

(a) If  $ACL_i > 2\tau_{i,N}$  ( $2\tau_{i,1}$ ), then it is definite that station i's transmission on the L-R (R-L) bus has not been intercepted by an upstream station on the R-L (L-R) bus. (b) If  $ACL_i \le 2\tau_{i,N}$  ( $2\tau_{i,1}$ ), the uninterrupted completion of a transmission does not necessarily imply that station i's transmission has reached all stations downstream from i on the L-R (R-L) bus (because of the uncertainity that the transmission on the L-R (R-L) bus has been intercepted by an upstream station j on the R-L (L-R) bus).

Proof: See Appendix 2.6.

Assume that station i had transmitted in a R-L cycle in the *transient* mode.<sup>5</sup> When ACL, >  $2\tau_{i,N}$ , according to lemma 6, station i assumes that its transmission on both buses is successful.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Should station i had transmitted in an L-R cycle,  $\tau_{i,1}$  has to be used in the following discussion, instead of  $\tau_{i,N}$ . Also, R-L has to be used in lieu of L-R.



Notes:

- a. It is assumed that, wherever applicable, the station is currently in cycle X, where X = R-L or L-R
- b. When X = R-L, Y will be L-R and vice versa
- c. Time interval  $t = 2\tau_{i,N}$  for station i when it is in R-L cycle.  $t = 2\tau_{i,1}$  for station i when it is in L-R cycle.

#### Abbreviations:

D-Y - D-pkt transmission on bus Y (Y = R-L or L-R)

- BOC-X beginning of carrier on bus X (X = R-L or L-R)
- EOC-X end of carrier on bus X

Therefore, the station moves to the *Ready* state if its transmission buffer is non-empty. Otherwise, it moves to the *Idle* state. With ACL<sub>i</sub>  $\leq 2\tau_{i,N}$  at the end of the transmission, because of the uncertainity of success on one bus (L-R bus in the R-L cycle, and vice versa), the station moves from the *Txmit* state to the *Txmitted* state. If no BOC is sensed on the R-L bus within  $2\tau_{i,N}$  from the beginning of the cycle, it ensures that no upstream station on the R-L bus has intercepted its transmission on the L-R bus. Therefore, after the elapse of  $2\tau_{i,N}$  from the beginning of cycle, the state to the *Txmitted* state to the *Ready* state if it is backlogged. Otherwise, it moves to the *Idle* state.

If a station in the *Txmitted* state detects BOC on the R-L bus within  $2\tau_{u,N}$  of the beginning of the cycle, the station assumes that its transmission had been unsuccessful. Therefore, the packet is retransmitted as soon as the R-L bus becomes idle. If its transmission had actually been successful (ie. the packet was received successfully and without interruption) these retransmissions have to be treated as duplicates by the receiver. As in Z-Net, the identification of a duplicate packet can be done easily: if a station receives two packets from the same source during the *transient* mode, the second packet is definitely a duplicate and is discarded.

#### Case 2: Transition from the Txmit state in the Controlled mode

When a station completes its packet transmission in the *controlled* mode, it moves from the *Txmit* state to the *Idle* state, if its transmission buffer is empty. If the transmission buffer is nonempty, the station moves to the *Ready* state. Note that a station does not have to move to the *Txmitted* state now because a completion of packet transmission in the *controlled* mode guarantees its success. The reason for this is that, in the *controlled* mode, a higher priority station (i.e., en upstream station on the R-L (L-R) bus in the R-L (L-R) cycle) which becomes ready after missing its turn in a cycle has to wait its turn in the next cycle. Therefore, the *Txmitted* state in the state diagram is applicable only when a station is in the *transient* mode.

In D-Txmit state, a station transmits a D-pkt on the R-L (or L-R) bus, defering to upstream

transmissions on the R-L (L-R) bus. As the purpose of the D-pkt is to denote the start of the next cycle in the controlled mode, no D-pkts are transmitted in the random mode. Therefore, transitions to the D-Txmit state are applicable only when a station is in the transient or controlled mode.

Figure 2.8 is a time-space diagram illustrating transitions between different modes in X-Net. Initially, all stations are in the random mode. Stations i and j start transmissions as soon as they become ready. They switch to the transient mode at the start of their transmissions. Assuming that the last empty cycle observed by the stations (prior to switching to the random mode) had been of type R-L, stations i and j assume an L-R cycle. All other stations detecting either i's or j's BOC will switch to the transient mode and similarly assume an L-R cycle. Even though station j completes its transmission in the transient mode uninterrupted, it detects i's BOC before  $ACL_i$  reaches  $2\tau_{j,1}$ . Therefore, it retransmits the packet at time A. As explained before, the receiver will identify this packet as a duplicate and discard it. Assuming that the packet lengths are short, station N transmits a D-pkt at time B. Then it switches to the controlled mode and assumes an R-L cycle. Other stations which are in the process of transmitting D-pkts abort their transmissions when they detect the BOC of station N's D-pkt. At the end of D-pkt reception on the R-L bus, all stations switch to the controlled mode and assume the R-L cycle. Assume that the parameter EC is set to 1 in all stations. As long as the cycles are non-empty, stations are continuously in the controlled mode and transmission cycles alternate between types R-L and L-R. Finally, a D-pkt is followed by an empty cycle (of type R-L, for example). Stations then switch to the random mode individually, as shown in Figure 2.8. The next transmission cycle (not shown in Figure 2.8) following the random mode will be of type L-R, as the last empty cycle that the stations had observed was of type R-L. As seen from Figure 2.8, in X-Net, the transitions among the different modes of a station are in the cyclic order, random to transient, then to controlled and back to random. In Figure 2.8, note that there is only one cycle in the transient mode, while there can be several consecutive alternating R-L and L-R cycles in the *controlled* mode.



Figure 2.8. Transitions between modes in X-Net

## Appendix 2.1: Proof of Lemma 2.1

(a). Figure 2.9 shows a cycle of transmissions started by station i. Consider a station j and let n be the number of stations downstream from j on the R-L bus that transmit in the cycle. Let these stations be numbered  $k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_n$  from right to left. Let:

- N = total number of stations
- $\tau$  = end-to-end bus propagation delay
- $\tau_{i,j}$  = bus propagation delay between stations i and j
- $\theta$  = time taken by a station to detect the beginning-of-carrier (BOC) on a bus
- $\beta$  = time taken by a station to detect the end-of-carrier (EOC) on a bus
- $\gamma$  = time taken by a station to start transmission

During the cycle, station j will observe the bus idle intervals of  $t_1, t_2, \ldots, t_{n-1}, t_n$  (see Figure 2.9), given by:

$$\begin{split} \iota_1 &= 2\tau_{j,k_1} + (\gamma + \theta) + \beta \quad \text{and}, \\ \iota_n &= 2\tau_{k_n,k_{n-1}} + (\gamma + \theta); \quad 2 \leq x \leq n. \end{split}$$

If station 1 transmits in the cycle (which will then be the last transmission), station j will detect its BOC at time A. At time A, AIT<sub>j</sub> is given by:

$$AIT_{j} = t_1 + t_2 + \dots + t_n + t_{n+1}$$

where,

$$t_{n+1} = 2\tau_{k_{n},1} + (\gamma + \theta)$$

Therefore,

AIT<sub>j</sub> = 
$$2\tau_{j,1} + (n+1)(\gamma + \theta) + \beta$$
 (A2.1.1)

By waiting until AIT<sub>j</sub> exceeds the time interval in expression (A2.1.1) above, station j gives opportunity for n downstream stations to transmit in the cycle. Should all (j-1) downstream stations transmit; it is sufficient for station j to wait until its AIT exceeds  $[2\tau_{j,1} + (j-1)(\gamma+\theta) + \beta]$ . The



Figure 2.9. Idle time intervals seen by station j

highest AIT will be when j=N and all stations transmit in the cycle. Under this condition, AIT<sub>N</sub> is given by:

# $AIT_N = 2\tau_{N,1} + (N-1)(\gamma + \theta) + \beta = 2\tau + (N-1)(\gamma + \theta) + \beta$

Therefore, station N observing an AIT of  $(2\tau + \delta)$ , where  $\delta = (N-1)(\gamma+\theta) + \beta$  in between two consecutive transmit during a cycle. In Z-Net, as stations are not required to the stations, they all observe the same AIT of  $(2\tau+\delta)$  in between two consecutive pack to the stations.

(b). In Figure 2.9, the lines BC and BD are the loci of time instances the stations 1,2,...,i and i,i+1,...,N complete the AIT of  $(2\tau+\delta)$ . Thus, they indicate the earliest opportunity at which a station could transmit, following the current cycle. Consider two stations p and q such that p<q (i.e., q is located upstream from p on the R-L bus) and q≤N, which are ready and await transmission in the next cycle. When q detects p's BOC on the L-R bus, it had already started its transmission. Therefore, considering the stations p and q, q will be the potential starter of the next cycle. Thus, by observing an AIT of  $(2\tau+\delta)$ , a station also waits sufficient time for upstream stations on the R-L bus to start the next cycle.<sup>6</sup>

Note that Figure 2.9 does not show the effect of packet collisions, which are possible at the beginning of the cycle, when more than one station start transmission in the *random* mode. In this case, the completion of AIT of  $(2\tau+\delta)$  by each station will be at or after the time instances indicated by lines BC and BD. Thus, lemma 2.1 will still hold for this case.

#### Appendix 2.2: Proof of Lemma 2.2

(a) : When  $ACL_1 > 2\tau$ 

By the time station i finishes transmission, if  $ACL_i > 2\tau$  (see Figure 2.10), it guarantees that all the stations upstream from i on the R-L bus have had an opportunity to transmit in the current cycle. Therefore, the uninterrugted completion of i's transmission implies that its packet has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Eventually, the starter of the next cycle will be the most upstream station on the R-L bus which awaits its turn in the next cycle.



reached all stations downstream from i on the L-R bus without pre-emption.

Figure 2.10. Time-space diagram when  $ACL_i > 2\tau$ 

## (b) : When $ACL_i \leq 2\tau$

As seen from Figure 2.11, stations i, j, and other stations in between i and j have completed their transmissions. However, an upstream station k has intercepted j's transmission on the L-R bus. Depending on the duration of k's and other transmissions, station k may partially or completely intercept one or more packets on the L-R bus, or, it may not intercept any transmission at all. Therefore, when  $ACL_i \le 2\tau$ , station i is uncertain of the outcome of its transmission on the L-R bus.

#### Appendix 2.3: Proof of Lemma 2.3

Under any load condition, the normal protocol operation does not allow a station to transmit two complete packets spaced within an AIT of  $(2\tau+\delta)$  (ie., within the same cycle of transmission in the *controlled* mode, according to lemma 2.1). The only exception to this is the case where a station transmits a packet and subsequently a duplicate of it in the same cycle. Therefore, if a station receives two complete packets from the same source before its AIT reaches  $(2\tau+\delta)$ , the second packet should be a duplicate.



Figure 2.11. Time-space diagram when  $ACL_i \leq 2\tau$ 

## Appendix 2.4: Proof of Lemma 2.4

In the proof, we consider an R-L cycle in the *transient* mode. Same line of arguments can then be applied to prove the lemma for an L-R cycle.

(a). Station i waiting until AIT<sub>i</sub> >  $[2\tau_{i,1}+(i-1)(\gamma+\theta)]$  gives sufficient time for other downstream stations on the R-L bus to transmit in the current R-L cycle (see proof of Lemma 2.1 in Appendix 2.1). If  $D_{gen,i}$  is the generation time of a *D-pkt* by station i, then:

 $D_{gen,i} = 2\tau \text{ from the start of cycle + AIT}_i \text{ of } (2\tau_{i,1} + \delta); \text{ where, } \delta = (N-1)(\gamma + \theta) + \beta.$ 

Thus, 
$$D_{gen,i} > AIT_i$$
 of  $[2\tau_{i,1} + (i-1)(\gamma + \theta)]$ .

Therefore, by the time station i generates a D-pkt, all stations have transmitted in the R-L cycle.

(b). For a station x,  $1 \le x \le N$ , let:

 $t_{sLx}$  = the start time of an R-L cycle

 $D_{gen,x}$  = scheduled generation time of a *D*-pkt

 $D_{end,x}$  = expected completion time of *D*-pkr transmission

 $D_{rec,x}$  = time at which station x receives a *D*-*pkt* from an upstream station

 $B_x = ct \text{ and busy time seen by station } x, \text{ since ACL}_x \text{ reaches } 2\tau, \text{ until AIT}_x \text{ exceeds}$   $2\tau_{x,1}.$ 

Let  $l_{D}$  be the length of a *D*-pkt. For a pair of stations i and j, such that i>j, we have:

$$\begin{split} \ddot{D}_{\text{gen},i} &= t_{\text{st},i} + 2\tau + B_i + 2\tau_{i,1} + \delta \\ D_{\text{end},i} &= D_{\text{gen},i} + l_D \\ D_{\text{gen},j} &= t_{\text{st},j} + 2\tau + B_j + 2\tau_{j,1} + \delta \end{split}$$

Station i will receive station j's D-pkt at time  $D_{rec,i}$ , given by:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{D}_{\text{rec},i} &= D_{\text{gen},j} + \tau_{j,i} \\ &= D_{\text{end},i} - (t_{\text{st},j} - t_{\text{st},j} + \tau_{i,j} + B_i - B_j + l_D) \end{split}$$
(A2.4.1)

To prove part (b) of lemma 2.4, we show that  $D_{rec,i} \leq D_{end,i}$ .

In Figure 2.12, ACL of stations i and j reach  $2\tau$  at time instants A and B, respectively. They start idle time counting from these time instants. Before the AIT<sub>i</sub> and AIT<sub>j</sub> exceed  $2\tau_{i,1}$  and  $2\tau_{j,1}$ , respectively, B<sub>j</sub> can be larger than B<sub>i</sub> by  $[\tau_{i,j}-(t_{st,j}-t_{st,j})]$  at most, because B<sub>j</sub> could include channel busy times which are not counted in B<sub>i</sub> as a result of overlap in transmissions. This is true irrespective of whether  $t_{st,j} \ge$ or  $< t_{st,j}$ ; ( $|t_{st,j}-t_{st,j}| \le \tau_{i,j}$ ). Therefore,

$$\begin{split} B_j &\leq B_i + (t_{st,i} - t_{st,j} + \tau_{i,j}) \quad \text{and}, \\ B_i - B_j + t_{st,i} - t_{st,j} + \tau_{i,j} &\geq 0 \end{split}$$

As  $l_D > 0$ , from expression (A2.4.1),  $D_{rec,i} \leq D_{end,i}$ .



Figure 2.12. Channel busy times seen by stations i and j

## Appendix 2.5: Proof of Lemma 2.5

The proof is very similar to the proof of Lemma 2.1, when an R-L cycle is considered. In Z-Net, stations have to use the value of  $2\tau$  in the AIT value, as the stations do not know their location in the network. In X-Net, in the R-L cycle, a station i,  $(1 \le 1 \le N)$ , can use  $2\tau_{i,1}$  instead of  $2\tau$ , as stations know their locations. The same reasoning can be applied to an L-R cycle, with a station i using an AIT value of  $2\tau_{i,N}$ .

## Appendix 2.6: Proof of Lemma 2.6

Considering the R-L cycle, the proof is identical to the proof of Lemma 2.2 of Z-Net. In Z-Net, ACL<sub>i</sub> is compared with  $2\tau$ , as the stations do not know their location in the network. In X-Net, as station i know its location on the buses,  $2\tau_{i,N}$  can be used instead of  $2\tau$ . Same reasoning can be applied to prove the lemma for an L-R cycle.

#### Chapter 3

#### Analytic Performance Modeling of Z-Net and X-Net

This chapter describes the development of approximate analytic models to study the performance of Z-Net and X-Net. First, the general properties of the models are described. Next, an analytic model for Z-Net is developed. Then, the remaining part of the chapter shows how the Z-Net model can be extended to model the behaviour of the X-Net protocol.

## 3.1. The General Model

A system of N stations is considered. Each station has a single buffer. Without loss of generality, stations are numbered from left to right from 1 to N, as shown in Figure 2.1. A station could either be in the *idle* or *ready* (i.e., backlogged) states. The packet inter-arrival time at each station is exponentially distributed with mean  $1/\lambda$ . The end-to-end propagation delay of the network is denoted by  $\tau$ . The packet length is assumed to be fixed and the packet transmission time is T seconds. Each packet is preceded by a short, fixed-length preamble (for receiver synchronization) and, a packet contains some fixed number of overhead bits (for addressing, error-detection purposes, etc.). The preamble and overhead bits in a packet are assumed to be negligible compared to the information bits in the packet. It is assumed that  $T \ge 2\tau$ . This assumption is made so that the uninterrupted completion of a packet transmission implies its success. A station in the ready state does not generate packets and assumes the idle state when the packet transmission is completed.

For a given station, the right opportunity to start a packet transmission (as governed by the medium access protocol), is referred to as the *server entering* that station. The end of transmission opportunity is referred to as the *server departing* the station. Thus, for a station which had been in

the ready state when the *server* vered it, the time instant of *server departure* is the 201 of that station's packet transmission. For an idle station, the time instants of *server entering* and *server departing* the station coincide.

The time interval from the start of a transmission cycle until the start of the next cycle is called the *cycle time*. The number of transmissions in a cycle is referred to as the *cycle length*. The following notations are used in the remaining sections of this chapter:

- $t_{sl,y}^{x}$  time instant of the start of  $x^{th}$  transmission cycle by station y
- i(j) identity of the station that started the  $r^{th}$  ( $(r+1)^{th}$ ) transmission cycle
- k(l) number of stations in ready state at time  $t_{st,i}^r$   $(t_{st,j}^{r+1})$ , which are located downstream from i(j) on the R-L bus
- n cycle length of  $r^{ih}$  cycle
- e identity of the station that transmitted last in the  $r^{th}$  cycle
- $t_c^r$  cycle time of  $r^{th}$  cycle (i.e.,  $t_c^i = t_{st,j}^{r+1} t_{st,i}^r$ )
- $t_{ent,x}$  time instant of the server entering station x
- $t_{dep,x}$  time instant of the server departing station x
- $\tau_{x,y}$  propagation delay from station x to station y

For simplicity, we drop the superscript indicating the cycle number from  $t_{st,i}^r$ ,  $t_{st,j}^{r+1}$  and  $t_c^r$ .

## 3.2. Performance Modeling of Z-Net

In Z-Net, the station j (the station that started the  $(r+1)^{th}$  cycle) and the number of ready stations l (downstream from j at the start of the cycle) depend only on the packet arrivals between the time instants  $t_{st,i}^r$  and  $t_{st,j}^{r+1}$ . Therefore, the system can be modeled as an embedded Markovian process with the start of a transmission cycle taken as the embedding point. The state descriptor is taken as: the identity of the station that started a transmission cycle and the number
of stations in the ready state at the start of the cycle, that are downstream from the cycle starter on the R-L bus.

Consider the two embedding points, the start of  $r^{th}$  and  $(r+1)^{th}$  transmission cycles, with system states (i,k) and (j,l), respectively. The transition probability from state (i,k) to state (j,l) is given by:<sup>1</sup>

$$p_{(i,k);(j,l)}^{Z} = \sum_{n \in e} \sum_{e} S_{Z}(j,l \mid n,e,i,k) \cdot R_{Z}(n,e \mid i,k)$$
(3.1)

where,

 $S_Z(j,l \mid n,e,i,k) = \operatorname{prob}((r+1)^{th} \text{ cycle is started by station } j, \text{ with } l \text{ ready stations downstream}$ from it at the start of cycle; given n,e,i,k, and,

 $R_Z(n, e \mid i, k) = \text{prob}(\text{length of } r^{ih} \text{ cycle is } n \text{ and the last transmission in the cycle is by station } e;$ given i, k)

In the following sections, the derivations of  $S_Z(j,l \mid n,e,i,k)$  and  $R_Z(n,e \mid i,k)$  are described. The terms *downstream* and *upstream* are used in relation to the R-L bus, unless the L-R bus is mentioned specificelly. For example, the stations downstream from *i* refer to stations i-1,i-2,..,2,1 which are on the downstream segment of the R-L bus from station *i* (see Figure 2.1).

**Derivation of**  $R_Z$  (n,e | i,k) :

Define the function  $D(s,g,h \mid n,i,k)$  as:

 $D(s,g,h \mid n,i,k) = \operatorname{Prob}(s^{th} \text{ transmission in the cycle is by station } g, with h ready stations downstream from it at the start of the s^{th} transmission; given n,i,k)$ 

To derive D(.1.), assume that the  $(s-1)^{th}$  transmission was by station g', which is upstream from station g. Also, assume that there were h' stations in the ready state at time  $t_{ent,g'}$ , where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The superscript Z in equation (3.1) denotes Z-Net.

 $t_{ent,g'}$  denotes the start of the  $(s-1)^{th}$  transmission by the station g'. Then, for  $(k+1) < s \le n$ ,  $D(s,g,h \mid n,i,k)$  can be computed in terms of  $D(s-1,g',h' \mid n,i,k)$  as follows:

$$D(s,g,h \mid n,i,k) = \sum_{g'=g+1}^{i+2-s} \sum_{h'=h'_{run}}^{h'_{max}} p_1 \cdot p_2 \cdot p_3 \cdot D(s-1,g',h' \mid n,i,k)$$
(3.2)

where:

$$h'_{\min} = \begin{cases} max (k+2-s, max (h-1,0)), & \text{if } g' < i \\ k, & \text{if } g' = i \end{cases}$$
  
$$h'_{\max} = \begin{cases} h+1, & \text{if } g' < i \\ k, & \text{if } g' = i \end{cases}$$

 $p_1 = \text{prob}(\text{stations } g'-1, g'-2, \dots, g+1 \text{ are not ready at time } t_{ent,g'})$ 

 $p_2 = \text{prob}(\text{cach station } x; x = g' - 1, g' - 2, ..., g + 1 \text{ does not become ready during } T + \tau_{g', x})$ 

and,

 $p_{3} = \operatorname{prob}(\operatorname{station} g \text{ is ready at time } t_{ent,g} \cdot 1 \text{ stations } g'-1, \dots, g+2, g+1 \text{ were not ready at } t_{ent,g} \cdot ) \cdot \\ \operatorname{prob}(max(h-(h'-1),0) \text{ arrivals at } (g-1)-(h'-1) \text{ idle stations in the set of stations} \\ \{1,2,\dots,g-1\} \text{ during time } (T+\tau_{g',g'})) \\ +$ 

prob(station g is not ready at time  $t_{ent,g}$ . | stations g'-1,...,g+2,g+1 were not ready at  $t_{ent,g}$ .) • prob(g becomes ready during  $(T+\tau_{g',g'})$ ) • prob(h-h' arrivals at (g-1)-h' idle stations in the set  $\{1,2,...,g-1\}$  luring time  $(T+\tau_{g',g'})$ )

To derive an expression for the probability  $p_1$ , we assume that each of the stations g'-1, g'-2, ..., e+1, e, could be in the ready state at time  $t_{ent,g'}$  with equal probability. Then,

prob(station g'-1 is in the idle state at time  $t_{ent,g'} = \left(1 - \frac{h'}{g'-e}\right)$ , and

prob(station g'-2 is in the idle state at time  $t_{ent,g}$ . I station g'-1 is idle at time  $t_{ent,g}$ .)

$$=\left(1-\frac{h'}{g'-e-1}\right)$$

Following the same line of reasoning, we can obtain,

$$p_{1} = \prod_{x=0}^{g'-g-2} \left[ 1 - \frac{h'}{g'-e-x} \right]$$

It is easy to see that  $p_2$  is given by:

$$p_2 = \prod_{x=g+1}^{g'-1} e^{-\lambda(T+\tau_{g',x})}$$

To derive an expression for  $p_3$ , we use,

prob(x arrivals at y idle stations during time t) =  $\begin{bmatrix} y \\ x \end{bmatrix} (1 - e^{-\lambda t})^x (e^{-\lambda t})^{y-x}$ 

 $p_3$  can then be expressed as:

$$p_{3} = \phi \begin{bmatrix} g-h'\\ h-(h'-1) \end{bmatrix} \left(1-e^{-\lambda t}\right)^{h-h'+1} \left(e^{-\lambda t}\right)^{g-h-1} + (1-\phi)(1-e^{-\lambda t}) \left[ \begin{pmatrix} (g-1)-h'\\ h-h' \end{pmatrix} \left(1-e^{-\lambda t}\right)^{h-h'} \left(e^{-\lambda t}\right)^{g-1-h} \right]$$

where,

 $\phi = \text{prob}(g \text{ is ready at time } t_{ent,g} \cdot | h' \text{ stations in ready state at time } t_{ent,g} \cdot \text{ and stations } g' \cdot 1,...,g+2,g+1 \text{ are not ready at } t_{ent,g} \cdot)$ 

$$= \frac{h'}{g}, \text{ and}$$
$$t = (T + \tau_g \cdot_g).$$

The model is an approximate one since the exact locations of the k ready stations at the start of the  $r^{th}$  cycle are not known. As a simplifying assumption, we assume that these k stations are the stations i-1,i-2,..,i-k (i.e., k adjacent stations downstream from i). Another assumption considered was that, these k stations could be any combination from the stations  $\{1,2,..,i-1\}$  with equal probability. However, intuitively, the former assumption is more realistic for a set of stations with equal arrival rates. This is because, at high offered loads, during the previous cycle (i.e.,  $r-1^{th}$  cycle), the server would have departed a higher numbered station (such as i-1) much earlier than a lower numbered station (like 1 or 2). Therefore, a higher numbered station has a higher probability of being in the ready state at time  $t_{st,i}$  than a lower numbered station. At light loads, k would most likely be 0. Therefore, the assumption about the location of the k ready stations is relevant only at higher offered loads.

With s=n, g=e and h=0 in equation (3.2), the function D(n, e, 0|n, i, k), which is the prob( $n^{th}$  transmission in the cycle is by station e with 0 ready stations downstream from it when the server enters e, given n, i and k) can be recursively computed, with the following boundary conditions:

When k=0:

$$D(1,g,h \mid n,i,k) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } g=i \text{ and } h=0\\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

because the first transmission in the cycle is by station i.

When k > 0:

 $D(k+1,i-k,h'|n,i,k) = \operatorname{prob}(h' \operatorname{arrivals} \operatorname{at}(i-k-1))$  idle stations during the time  $(kT+\tau_{i,i-k})$ 

$$= \left( \begin{matrix} i-k-1\\h \end{matrix} \right) \left( 1-e^{-\lambda t} \right)^{h'} \left( e^{-\lambda t} \right)^{i-k-1-h}$$

where,  $t = (kT + \tau_{i,i-k})$ .

This is because the  $(k+1)^{ih}$  transmission is by the station (i-k) and h' number of stations have become ready from the set  $\{1,2,...,i-k-1\}$  during the time interval between the server entering the stations i and (i-k).

The probability  $R_Z(n, e \mid i, k)$  can now be readily computed as follows:

 $R_{Z}(n,e|i,k) = D(n,e,0|n,i,k) + \text{prob(each station } x, x=e-1,e-2,..,1, \text{ in the idle state during}$ the time interval  $(T+\tau_{e,x})$ )

$$= D(n, e, 0 | n, i, k) \cdot \prod_{x=1}^{e-1} e^{-\lambda(T + \tau_{e,x})}$$
(3.3)

**Derivation of**  $S_Z(j, l \mid n, e, i, k)$ :

Depending on the location of station j with respect to station i, two cases are possible; Case 1: j > i, and Case 2:  $j \le i$ .

## Case 1: j>i

Under this case, three subcases 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 are considered, depending on the length of the cycle time  $t_c$ . The reason for these different subcases is that the evaluation of  $S_Z(j,l \mid n,e,i,k)$  could be somewhat different depending on the length of  $t_c$ . The conditional state transition probability  $S_Z(j,l \mid n,e,i,k)$  for each of these subcases is denoted by  $s_{j,l \mid n,e,i,k}^{1,x}$ , where x=1, 2 or 3.

Subcase 1.1 :  $t_c = t_j + 2\tau_{j,i}$  where,  $t_j = \tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau_{1,N} + \tau_{N,j}$  (see Figure 3.1)

According to the medium access protocol, station j cannot start the new cycle until  $t_c$  is at least  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,i})$ , even if j is ready before this time. This is the reason why we consider the smallest value of  $t_c$  to be  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,i})$ .

Subcase 1.2: 
$$(t_j + 2\tau_{j,m+1}) < t_c \le (t_j + 2\tau_{j,m}); m = 1, 2, ..., (i-1)$$
 (see Figure 3.2)

In this case, (i-1) adjacent subintervals of  $t_c$  from  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,i})$  to  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,i})$  are considered, with the range of each subinterval determined by m. For a given value of m, where  $1 \le m \le (i-1)$ , suppose the length of the cycle time,  $t_c$ , is such that  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,m+1}) < t_c \le (t_j+2\tau_{j,m})$ . For some arbitrary value of  $t_c$  in this time interval, let  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{-1,2}(m,t_c)$  be the conditional state transition probability from state (i,k) to state (j,l), given m, n and e.

Integrating  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,2}$  (m,t<sub>c</sub>) over the time interval from  $(t_j + 2\tau_{j,m+1})$  to  $(t_j + 2\tau_{j,m})$ , and summing up for all values of m, the conditional state transition probability  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,2}$  is expressed as:

$$s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,2} = \sum_{m=1}^{i-1} \left[ \int_{t_j+2\tau_{j,m+1}}^{t_j+2\tau_{j,m}} s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,2} (m,t_c) dt \right]$$



Figure 3.1. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.1

**Subcase 1.3 :**  $t_c > (t_j + 2\tau_{j,1})$  (see Figure 3.3)

:

Given *n*, *e* and some arbitrary value of  $t_c$  such that  $t_c > (t_j + 2\tau_{j,1})$ , let  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,3}(t_c)$  be the conditional state transition probability from state (i,k) to state (j,l).

Integrating  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,3}(t_c)$  from  $t_j + 2\tau_{j,1}$  to  $\infty$ ,  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,3}$  for subcase 1.3 is given by:

$$s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,3} = \int_{t_j+2\tau_{j,1}}^{\infty} s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,3}(t_c) dt$$

The probability  $S_Z(j,l \mid n,e,i,k)$  for Case 1 is therefore given by:

$$S_{Z}(j,l+n,e,i,k) = S_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,1} + S_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,2} + S_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,3}$$
(3.4)

 $s_{j,l1n,e,i,k}^{1,x}$  for each subcase x=1, 2 and 3, is evaluated using:

$$s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,x} = p_{nr}^{1,x} \cdot p_j^{1,x} \cdot p_l^{1,x}$$
; x=1,2,3



Figure 3.2. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.2

where,

 $p_{nr}^{1,x} = \text{prob(stations } r = j+1, j+2,...,N;$  remaining idle during the time interval AB in Figure 3.1),

 $p_j^{1,x}$  = prob(station j in ready state at time  $t_{st,j}$ ), and

 $p_l^{1,x} = \text{prob}(l \text{ stations from the set } \{1,2,...,j-1\} \text{ in ready state at time } t_{sl,j}).$ 

For all three subcases,  $p_{nr}^{1.x}$  is given by:

$$p_{nr}^{1,x} = \left( e^{-\lambda(t_c - \tau_{r,r})} \right)^{N-r}; x = 1,2,3$$

 $p_j^{1x}$  is given by:

$$p_j^{1,x} = \begin{cases} 1 - e^{-\lambda(t_e - \tau_{e_j})}, & \text{for } x = 1\\ \lambda e^{-\lambda(t_e - \tau_{e_j})}, & \text{for } x = 2.3 \end{cases}$$

In evaluating  $p_l^{1,x}$ , note that l could be any combination of l stations from station (j-1) to 1. We consider the stations from j-1 to i+1 and the stations from i to 1 as two separate sets. Let



Figure 3.3. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.3

l = x + y,

where,

- x = number of ready stations among  $\{i+1, i+2, \dots, j-1\}$ ; max $(0, l-i) \le x \le (j-1) i$ , and,
- y = number of ready stations among  $\{1, 2, ..., i\}; y = (l-x)$ .

Let the probability of x be  $p_x$  and the probability of y, given x be  $p_{y|x}$ .  $p_l^{1}$  is then given by:

$$p_l^{1} = \sum_{x=max(0,l-i)}^{j-1-i} p_x \cdot p_{y+x}$$
 for  $y=l-x$ 

The derivations of  $p_x$  and  $p_{y|x}$  for each subcase follow the same procedure, but the intermediate steps have some variations. For subcase 1.1, the evaluation procedure for  $p_x$  and  $p_{y|x}$  are described in Appendix 3.1. Appendices 3.2 and 3.3 then outline the variations from this for subcases 1.2 and 1.3, respectively.

The derivation of  $S_Z(j, l \mid n, e, i, k)$  for Case 2 (i.e.,  $j \le i$ ) follows a similar procedure (with three subcases, again) with minor variations from Case 1, and is outlined in Appendix 3.8.

As both probabilities in the R.H.S. of equation (3.1) can now be evaluated, the state transition probabilities  $p_{(i,k);(j,l)}^{Z}$  for  $1 \le i, j \le N$  and  $0 \le k \le (i-1), 0 \le l \le (j-1)$  can be found. Then, using standard techniques, the steady state probabilities  $\pi_{i,k}$  can be obtained.

Next, we describe how the above model can be extended for modeling the behaviour of X-Net. Then, using the steady state probabilities, expressions are derived for the mean channel utilization of both Z-Net and X-Net. Using the mean channel utilization, a common expression is then obtained to compute the mean packet transfer delay of Z-Net and X-Net.

### 3.3. Performance Modeling of X-Net

In X-Net, an R-L cycle of transmissions is very similar to a transmission cycle in Z-Net (where all transmission cycles are of type R-L). Therefore, the principles used in the Z-Net model can also be applied to model the behaviour of the X-Net protocol. However, the state descriptor must now be enhanced to capture the additional properties of the X-Net protocol. Firstly, in X-Net, a transmission cycle could be either of type R-L or L-R. This must be reflected in the state descriptor. Secondly, the operation mode of the cycle leader (the station that starts a new cycle) just prior to the start of the cycle could be either random or controlled (whereas this is always random in Z-Net). The state descriptor should also represent this mode information. To make these extensions to the state descriptor, we additionally introduce the following notations:

a(b) - type of  $r^{th}$  ((r+1)<sup>th</sup>) transmission cycle (R-L or L-R)

c(d) - mode of station i (j) just before the start of  $r^{th}$   $((r+1)^{th})$  cycle (random or controlled)

The rest of the notations used are the same as those used in the Z-Net model (defined in Section 3.1). In the derivations, we assume the parameter EC is 1 and the length of D-pkts is negligible compared to the length of a cycle.

Considering the time instant  $t_{st,j}$ , the station j (station that starts the  $(r+1)^{th}$  cycle), the number of ready stations l (downstream from j at the start of the cycle), the type of cycle b and the mode d of station j depend only on the packet arrivals between the time instants  $t_{st,i}$  and  $t_{st,j}$ . Therefore, the behaviour of X-Net can be modeled as an embedded Markovian process with the state descriptor as (a, c, i, k) and the start of a transmission cycle as the embedding point.

Consider the two embedding points, the start of  $r^{th}$  cycle with system state (a,c,i,k), and the start of  $(r+1)^{th}$  cycle with system state (b,d,j,l). The transition probability from the state (a,c,i,k) to the state (b,d,j,l) can be expressed as:<sup>2</sup>

$$p_{(a,c,i,k):(b,d,j,l)}^{X} = \sum_{n} \sum_{e} S_{X}(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,a,c,i,k) \cdot R_{X}(n,e \mid a,c,i,k)$$
(3.5)

where,

 $S_X(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,a,c,i,k) = \operatorname{prob}((r+1)^{th} \text{ cycle is of type } b \text{ and is started by station } j \text{ in mode } d,$ with l ready stations downstream from it at the start of cycle; given n,e,a,c,i,k), and,

 $R_X(n, e \mid a, c, i, k) = \text{prob}(\text{length of } r^{th} \text{ cycle is } n \text{ and the last transmission in the cycle is by sta$ tion e; given <math>a, c, i, k)

The following observations simplify the task of computing the state transition probabilities:

(a). Only the transition probabilities  $p_{(R-L,c,i,k);(b,d,j,l)}^X$  need to be computed. Because of the similarity of behaviour of R-L and L-R cycles,  $p_{(L-R,c,i,k);(b,d,j,l)}^X$  can then be obtained using the following symmetry property:

$$p_{(L-R,c,i,k);(b,d,j,l)}^{X}) = p_{(R-L,c,i,k);(b,d,j,l)}^{X})$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The superscript X in equation (3.5) denotes X-Net.

where,

$$x' = N + 1 - x; \quad x = i, j$$
  
$$b' = \begin{cases} R - L, & \text{if } b = L - R \\ L - R, & \text{if } b = R - L \end{cases}$$

(b). The probability  $R_X(n,e \mid a,c,i,k)$  does not depend on the mode c of the station i that started the  $r^{th}$  cycle. Therefore, when the cycle type a is R-L,  $R_X(n,e \mid R-L,.,i,k)$  is identical to the probability  $R_Z(n,e \mid i,k)$  of Z-Net (see equations 3.1 and 3.3).

In the light of these observations, only the derivation of the probability  $S_X(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,R-L,c,i,k)$  need to be described. In the following sections, during the *R*-L cycle, the terms *downseream* and *upstream* are used in relation to the *R*-L bus. In the *L*-R cycle, these terms apply to the *L*-R bus.

**Derivation of**  $S_X(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,R-L,c,i,k)$ :

As in the Z-Net model, two cases are possible; Case 1: j > i, and Case 2:  $j \le i$ .

Case 1: j>i

Four subcases 1.1, 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4 are considered, depending on the length of the cycle time  $t_c$ . The conditional probability  $S_X(b,d,j,l+n,e,R-L,c,i,k)$  for each subcase is denoted by  $S_{b,d,j,l+n,e,R-L,c,i,k}^{1,x}$ , where x=1, 2, 3 or 4.

**Subcase 1.1 :**  $t_c = \tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau_{1,j}$  (see Figure 3.4)

According to the X-Net medium access protocol, the earliest time that station j can start the new cycle is after a time interval of  $(\tau_{i,1}+nT+\tau_{1,j})$  from the start of the previous cycle. Therefore, the smallest possible value of  $t_c$  is  $(\tau_{i,1}+nT+\tau_{1,j})$ . As shown in Figure 3.4, the type of the new cycle in this case is L-R.

**Subcase 1.2 :**  $t_c \approx \tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau + \tau_{N,j}$  (see Figure 3.5)



Figure 3.4. Time-space diag am for Subcase 1.1

If station j was not ready to start the new cycle under subcase 1.1, then according to the medium access protocol, the next earliest time that j can start the cycle is when  $t_c$  reaches  $(\tau_{i,1}+nT+\tau+\tau_{N,j})$  as shown in Figure 3.5. Note that the cycle type in this case (and the remaining subcases 1.3 and 1.4) is R-L.

Subcase 1.3:  $(t_j + 2\tau_{j,m+1}) < t_c \le (t_j + 2\tau_{j,m}); m=1,2,...,(j-1)$  (see Figure 3.6)

This subcase is somewhat similar to the subcase 1.2 of the Z-Net model. Here, (j-1) adjacent subintervals of  $t_c$  from  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,i})$  to  $(t_j+\gamma_{j,1})$  are considered, with the range of each sub interval being determined by m. For a given value of m, where  $1 \le m \le (j-1)$ , suppose the length of the cycle time,  $t_c$ , is such that  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,n+1}) \le t_c \le (t_j+2\tau_{j,n})$ . For some arbitrary value of  $t_c$  in this time interval, let  $s_{b,d,j,l+n,c,a,c,i,k}^{1,3}(m,t_c)$  be the conditional state transition probability from state (a,c,i,k) to state (b,d,j,l), given m, n and e.

The conditional state transition probability  $s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,3}$  is then expressed as:

$$s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,3} = \sum_{m=1}^{j-1} \int_{t_j+2t_{j,m+1}}^{t_j+2t_{j,m}} s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,3} (m,t_c) dt$$



Figure 3.5. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.2



Figure 3.6. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.3

Subcase 1.4 :  $t_c > (t_j + 2\tau_{j,1})$ 

(see Figure 3.7)



Figure 3.7. Time-space diagram for Subcase 1.4

Given n, e and some arbitrary value of  $t_c$  such that  $t_c > (t_j + 2\tau_{j,1})$ , let  $s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,4}(t_c)$ be the conditional state transition probability from state (a, c, i, k) to state (b, d, j, l).

Then  $s_{b,d,j,l|n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,4}$  for subcase 1.4 i given by:

$$s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,4} = \int_{t_j+2\tau_{j,1}}^{\infty} s_{j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,4}(t_c) dt$$

Subcase 1.1 is the only one in which station j can start a cycle of type L-R. In this case, the mode d of station j just before the start of the cycle is *controlled*. In the remaining cases 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4, the type of cycle started by station j is of type R-L. In these cases, the mode d of station j is *random*. With these observations, the conditional probability  $S(b, d, j, l \mid n, e, R-L, c, i, k)$  for Case 1 can then be evaluated as follows:

$$\begin{split} S_{X}(L-R, random, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k) &= 0 \\ S_{X}(L-R, controlled, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k) &= s_{L-R, controlled, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k} \\ S_{X}(R-L, random, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k) &= s_{R-L, random, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k} \\ &= s_{R-L, random, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k} + s_{R-L, random, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k} \\ S_{X}(R-L, controlled, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k) &= 0 \end{split}$$

 $s_{b,d,j,l,n,e,R-L,c,i,k}^{1,x}$  for each subcase x, where x=1, 2, 3 and 4, is evaluated using:

$$s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,R-L,c,i,k}^{1,x} = p_{ne}^{-1,x} \cdot p_j^{-1,x} \cdot p_l^{-1,x}$$
;  $x = 1,2,3,4$ 

where,

 $p_{nr}^{-1,x} = \text{prob}(\text{when the server enters}, \text{ each station upstream from } j \text{ is not ready})^3$  $p_j^{-1,x} = \text{prob}(\text{station } j \text{ in the ready state at time } t_{st,j}), \text{ and}$ 

 $p_l^{1,x} = \text{prob}(l \text{ stations downstream} \text{ from } j \text{ in the ready state at time } t_{st,j}).$ 

For subcase 1.1,

$$p_{nr}^{1,1} = \text{prob}(\text{cach station y, y} = 1, 2, ..., j-1, \text{ in the idle state until time } (t_{dep,1} + \tau_{1,y}))$$

For the other subcases, with x = 2,3,4,

$$p_{rr}^{1,x}$$
 = prob(each station y, y = j+1, j+2,...,N, in the idle state until time  $(t_{st,j} + \tau_{j,y})$ )

The evaluation of  $p_{nr}^{1,x}$ , x = 1,2,3,4, is described in Appendix 3.6.

 $p_j^{1,x}$  is given by the following:

When c = random,

$$p_{j}^{1,x} = \begin{cases} 1 - e^{-\lambda(t_{e} - \tau_{i,j})}, & \text{for } x = 1\\ e^{-\lambda(t_{e} - \tau_{i,j} - 2\tau_{j,N})} \cdot (1 - e^{-\lambda 2\tau_{j,N}}) & \text{for } x = 2\\ \lambda e^{-\lambda(t_{e} - \tau_{i,j})}, & \text{for } x = 3 \text{ and } 4 \end{cases}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Therefore, these upstream stations do not start the new cycle.

When c = controlled,

$$p_{j}^{1,x} = \begin{cases} 1 - e^{-\lambda(t_{e} + \tau_{i,j})}, & \text{for } x = 1\\ e^{-\lambda(t_{e} + \tau_{i,j} - 2\tau_{j,N})} \cdot (1 - e^{-\lambda \cdot 2\tau_{j,N}}) & \text{for } x = 2\\ \lambda \cdot e^{-\lambda(t_{e} + \tau_{i,j})}, & \text{for } x = 3 \text{ and } 4 \end{cases}$$

In evaluating  $p_l^{1,1}$  (i.e., for subcase 1.1), *l* could be any combination of *l* stations from station (j+1) to N. For the other three subcases (i.e., 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4), *l* could be any combination from station 1 to (j-1).  $p_l^{1,x}$ , x = 1,2,3,4 are then given by:

$$p_{l}^{1,1} = \text{prob}(l \text{ packet arrivals at stations } y; y = j+1, j+2, ..., N; \text{ until the time instant } t_{st,j})$$

$$p_{l}^{1,2} = \text{prob}(\text{each station } y; y = 1, 2, ..., j-1 \text{ in idle state until } (t_{dep,1} + \tau_{1,y})) \cdot \text{prob}(l \text{ packet arrivals at stations } y; y = 1, 2, ..., j-1; \text{ during the time inte}; v = 1 \text{ min}(t_{dep,1} + \tau_{1,y}) \text{ to } t_{st,j})$$

For a given station m, where  $1 \le m \le (j-1)$ ,

$$p_l^{1.3}(m) = \text{prob}(\text{each station } y, y = 1, 2, ..., m, \text{ in the idle state until } (t_{dep,1} + \tau_{1,y}))$$
  
 $prob(\text{each station } y, y = m + 1, ..., j - 1, \text{ in the idle state until time } (t_{st,j} - \tau_{j,y}))$   
 $prob(\text{packet arrivals at } l \text{ stations out of } 1, ..., j - 1)^4$ 

$$p_l^{1.4}$$
 = prob(each station y, y = 1,...,j-1, in the idle state until time  $(t_{st,j} - \tau_{j,y})$ )  
prob(packet arrivals at l stations out of  $(...,j-1)$  during the interval  $\tau_{j,y}$  preceding  $t_{st,j}$ )

In computing  $p_1^{1,1}$ , each station y, y = j+1, j+2, ..., N, could be in the ready state at time  $t_{st,j}$  with the probability:

$$\begin{cases} 1 - e^{-\lambda(t_c - \tau_{c,y})}, & \text{when } c = random, \\ 1 - e^{-\lambda(t_c + \tau_{c,y})}, & \text{when } c = controlled \end{cases}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Packets may arrive at each station y, y=1,2,..,m, from the time instant  $(t_{dep,1}+\tau_{1,y})$  until the time instant  $t_{n,y}$ . For each station y, y=m+1,..,j-1, packets may arrive during an interval  $\tau_{j,y}$  preceding the time instant  $t_{n,y}$ .

where, 
$$t_c = (\tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau_{1,j})$$
.

As these individual probabilities are known,  $p_l^{1,1}$  can be computed using the recursive algorithm described in Appendix 3.4.

Considering the stations  $\{1,2,...,i\}$  and  $\{i+1,i+2,...,j-1\}$  as two separate sets, the evaluation procedure for  $p_l^{1,x}$ , x = 2,3,4, is similar to that of  $p_l^{1,x}$ , x = 1,2,3, of the Z-Net model. Hence,  $S_X(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,R-L,c,i,k)$  for Case 1 can be computed. Using similar principles,  $S_X(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,R-L,c,i,k)$  for Case 2 (i.e., j≤i) can be computed, as outlined in Appendix 3.9.

The state transition probabilities  $p_{(a,c,i,k),(b,d,j,l)}^X$  for a,b = R-L,L-R,  $c,d = random, controlled \le i, j \le N$ , and  $0 \le k \le (i-1)$ ,  $0 \le l \le (j-1)$ , can therefore be found. Standard techniques are then used to obtain the sterkey state probabilities  $\pi_{a,c,i,k}$ .

The remaining sections of the chapter describe how the mean channel utilization of Z-Net and X-Net can be obtained using the steady state probabilities.

#### 3.4. Mean Channel Utilization

Mean channel utilization for a given station (*stationwise channel utilization*) is defined as the proportion of time the channel is utilized by that station for successful packet transmissions. Mean channel utilization for the network (denoted simply by *channel utilization*) is calculated by adding the individual channel utilizations of all stations. Let  $\vec{n}$  be the mean number of transmissions per cycle (i.e., mean cycle length), and  $\vec{c}$  be the mean time between the start of two consecutive cycles (i.e., mean cycle time), both averaged over all cycles. Then, the mean channel utilization  $\vec{U}$  is given by:

$$\overline{U} = \frac{\overline{n} \cdot T}{\overline{c}} \tag{3.6}$$

Mean Channel Utilization for Z-Net :

For Z-Net,  $\overline{n}$  and  $\overline{c}$  can be found as follows:

$$\bar{n} = \sum_{n} \left[ n \sum_{i,k} \operatorname{prob}(n+i,k) \cdot \pi_{i,k} \right] ,$$

where,

$$prob(n + i,k) = \sum_{e} prob(n,e + i,k), \text{ and}$$
$$\bar{c} = \sum_{n,i,k} E(c + n,i,k) \cdot prob(n + i,k) \cdot \pi_{i,k},$$

with,

$$E(c \mid n, i, k) = \sum_{j,l} \overline{c}_{j,l+n,i,k}$$

 $\overline{c}_{j,l+n,i,k}$  is defined as the mean time for transition from state (i,k) to state (j,l), when the cycle length is n.

Considering the three different subcases of Case 1, we compute  $\overline{c}_{j,l+n,i,k}$  as follows:

$$\overline{c}_{j,l+n,i,k} = (t_j + 2\tau_{j,i}) \cdot p_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,1} + \sum_{m=i-1}^{l} \int_{t=t_j+2\tau_{j,m+1}}^{t_j+2\tau_{j,m+1}} \left[ t \cdot p_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,2} \right] dt + \int_{t=t_j+2\tau_{j,1}}^{\infty} \left[ t \cdot p_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,3} \right] dt$$

where,

$$t_{j} = (\tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau_{1N} + \tau_{N,j}).$$

Note that in the above expression,  $p_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{1,x}$ , x=1,2,3, is independent of *e*, as this probability does not depend on the identity of the station that transmitted last in the cycle. For Case 2 (i.e., j≤i),  $\tilde{c}_{j,l+n,i,k}$  can be found in an identical manner.

# Mean Channel Utilization for X-Net :

Similar to that of the Z-Net,  $\overline{n}$  and  $\overline{c}$  for X-Net are given by:

$$\overline{n} = \sum_{n} \left[ n \sum_{a,c,i,k} prob(n + a,c,i,k) \cdot \pi_{a,c,i,k} \right],$$

where,

$$prob(n + a, c, i, k) = \sum_{e} prob(n, e + a, c, i, k), \text{ and}$$
  
$$\overline{c} = \sum_{n, a, c, i, k} E(c + n, a, c, i, k) \cdot prob(n + a, c, i, k) \cdot \pi_{a, c, i, k}$$

with,

$$E(c + n, a, c, i, k) = \sum_{b, d, j, l} \overline{c}_{b, d, j, l + n, a, c, i, k}$$

 $\overline{c}_{b,d,j,l+n,a,c,i,k}$  is defined as the mean time for transition from state (a,c,i,k) to state (b,d,j,l), when the cycle length is n.

Considering the low lifement subcases of Case 1, we compute  $\overline{c}_{b,d,j,l+n,a,c,t,k}$  as follows:

$$\overline{c}_{b,d,j,l+n,a,c,i,k} = (\tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau_{1,j}) \cdot p_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,1} + t_j \cdot p_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,2} + \sum_{m=i-1}^{l_j+2\tau_{j,m}} \int_{\substack{t_j+2\tau_{j,m}\\ t=t_j+2\tau_{j,1}}}^{t_j+2\tau_{j,m}} \left\{ t \cdot p_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,3} \right\} dt + \int_{\substack{t=t_j+2\tau_{j,1}}}^{\infty} \left\{ t \cdot p_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{1,4} \right\} dt$$

For Case 2 (i.e.,  $j \le i$ ),  $\overline{c}_{b,d,j,l+n,a,c,v,k}$  can be found in an identical manner.

## 3.5. Mean Packet Delay

Packet delay is measured in terms of two quantities, the *insertion delay*, and the *transfer delay*. The insertion delay, denoted by  $d_{ins}$ , is defined as the time interval between a packet moving to the head of the transmitting queue and the beginning of its successful transmission [Gerla et. al. 1985]. Transfer delay  $d_{ifr}$  is defined as the time interval between the arrival of a packet at a station and the successful reception of it by the receiving station. Consider two consecutive packet arrivals at a station x,  $(1 \le x \le N)$ , as shown in Figure 3.8. The station starts its packet transmission at time A, after a mean delay of  $\overline{d}_{ins,x}$ , during which time the packet waits in the transmitting queue. At the completion of packet transmission at time B, the packet generation process is enabled.



Figure 3.8. Two consecutive packet arrivals at a station x

The mean channel utilization of station x, denoted by  $\overline{u}_x$ , is then given by:

$$\bar{u}_{x} = \frac{T}{\bar{d}_{ins,x} + T + (1/\lambda)}$$

Therefore, the mean insertion delay for station x,  $\overline{d}_{ins,x}$ , is given by:

$$\vec{d}_{ins,x} = T \left[ \frac{1}{\vec{u}_x} - 1 \right] - \frac{1}{\lambda}$$
(3.7)

The mean insertion delay,  $\overline{d}_{ins}$ , calculated over all stations, can then be computed as follows:

$$\bar{d}_{ins} = \frac{\sum_{x=1}^{N} \bar{d}_{ins,x} \bar{u}_{x}}{\bar{U}}$$
(3.8)

where  $\overline{U}$  is given by:

$$\overline{U} = \sum_{x=1}^{N} \overline{u}_{x}$$

Substituting the expression (3.7) for  $\overline{d}_{ins,x}$  in equation (3.8), and then simplifying, the following expression can be obtained for  $\overline{d}_{ins}$ :

$$\bar{d}_{ins} = T \left[ \frac{N}{\bar{U}} - 1 \right] - \frac{1}{\lambda}$$
(3.9)

The mean transfer delay  $\tilde{d}_{tfr}$  is then given by:

$$\overline{d}_{ifr} = \overline{d}_{ins} + T + \overline{d}_p \tag{3.10}$$

where,

 $\vec{d}_p$  = mean propagation delay between a pair of transmitting and receiving stations

$$=\frac{\tau(N+1)}{3(N-1)}$$

Appendix 3.1: Evaluation of  $p_x$  and  $p_{y|x}$  in Subcase 1.1 of the Z-Net Model

For evaluating  $p_x$  for Subcase 1.1, consider a station r in the set  $\{i+1,i+2,...,j-1\}$ . It could be in ready state at time  $t_{st,j}$  with probability  $p_r$  where,

 $p_r = \text{prob}(\text{an arrival at } r \text{ during time interval CD in Figure 3.1}) = 1 - e^{-\lambda(t_j + 2\tau_{j,j} - \tau_{i,j})}$ 

Each  $p_r$  can be found for r = i+1, i+2, ..., j-1. Then, using the recursive algorithm given in Appendix 3.4,  $p_x$  can be computed. For evaluating  $p_{y_{1x}}$ , consider the time intervals from  $t_{st,i}$  to  $t_{dep,1}$  and  $t_{dep,1}$  to  $t_{st,j}$  separately (see Figure 3.1). Let  $y = y_1 - y_2$ , where,

- $y_1 =$  number of ready stations in the set  $\{1, 2, .., i\}$  at time  $t_{dep, 1}; 0 \le y_1 \le 1$  and
- $y_2$  = number of stations in the set {1,2,..,*i*} that become leady during the time from  $t_{dep,1}$  to  $t_{st,j}$

Let  $p_{y_1}$  be the probability of  $y_1$  and,  $p_{y_2|y_1}$  be the probability of  $y_2$ , given  $y_1$ . Then,

$$p_{y|x} = \sum_{y_1=0}^{\min(y_1,i-1)} p_{y_1} \cdot p_{y_2|y_1} ; \quad y_2 = y - y_1$$
(A.3.1.1)

and, 
$$p_{y_2 i y_1} = \begin{pmatrix} i - y_1 \\ y + y_1 \end{pmatrix} \left( 1 - e^{-\lambda t} \right)^{y - y_1} \left( e^{-\lambda t} \right)^{i - y}$$
 (A.3.1.2)

where, t = time interval from  $t_{dep,1}$  to  $t_{st,j} = \tau_{1,N} + \tau_{N,i} + \tau_{i,j}$  (see Figure 3.1)

To compute the probability  $p_{y_1}$ , we use the function  $P_r(y \mid i,k,e,n)$  defined as follows:

 $P_r(y \mid i,k,c,n) = \text{prob}(\text{when the server leaves station 1 (i.e., at time <math>t_{dep,1}$ ), there are y stations upstream from station 1 in ready state among stations {2,3,..,r} AND all stations {r+1,r+2,..,i} remain in idle state; given i,k,e,n};  $1 \le r \le i$ .

This function is also used in the other subcases 1.2 and 1.3 and its derivation is given in Appendix 3.5. The use of parameter r will be apparent in subcase 1.2. With r=i and  $y=y_1$ ,

 $P_i(y_1 | i,k,e,n) = \text{prob}(\text{when the server leaves station 1 there are } y_1 \text{ stations upstream from station}$ 1 in ready state among stations  $\{2,..,i-1,i\}$ ; given i,k,e,n) Clearly,  $p_{y_1} = P_i(y_1 \mid i,k,c,n)$ .

Appendix 3.2: Evaluation of  $p_x$  and  $p_{y|x}$  in Subcase 1.2 of the Z-Net Model

For evaluating  $p_x$  for Subcase 1.2, consider a station r in the set  $\{i+1,i+2,...,j-1\}$ . It should not become ready during the time interval CE in Figure 3.2. This is because, should it become ready before the time instant E, its BOC (beginning of carrier) will reach station j before jbecomes ready at time  $t_{st,j}$ . Then, station r would be the starter of new cycle instead of j. However, r could become ready during the last  $\tau_{r,j}$  interval from  $t_{st,j}$ , because, by the time r's BOC reaches j, j had already started the new cycle.  $p_x$  is given by:

> $p_x = \text{prob}(\text{each station } r, r = i+1, i+2, ..., j-1, \text{ remaining idle during } (t_c - \tau_{i,r} - \tau_{r,j}))$  prob(x stations out of stations r=i+1, i+2, ..., j-1, becoming ready, each duringthe last interval  $\tau_{r,j}$  from  $t_{st,j}$ )

The first probability on the R.H.S. of the above expression is given by:

$$\sum_{r=i+1}^{j-1} e^{-\lambda(t_e - \tau_{i,r} - \tau_{r,j})}$$
(A.3.2.1)

The second probability can be computed by considering the following: each station r, r=i+1,i+2,...,j-1, may become ready during the interval  $\tau_{r,j}$ , each with probability  $(1-e^{-\lambda\tau_{r,j}})$ . Using the recursive algorithm in Appendix 3.4, the prob(x stations out of i+1,i+2,...,j-1, in ready state at time  $t_{st,j}$ ) can then be computed.

To evaluate  $p_{y+x}$ , the stations 1,2,...,m and the stations m+1,m+2,...,t are considered separatetly under (i) and (ii) below:

(i). Each station r, r = m+1, m+2, ..., i, should remain in the idle state from the time the server leaving them until the time instant  $(t_{st,j} - \tau_{r,j})$ . Let this probability be  $p_{udle}$ . Each of these stations may become ready during the last interval  $\tau_{r,j}$  from  $t_{st,j}$ .

To evaluate  $p_{idle}$ , first consider the time interval from the instant the server leaving a station

r, r = m+1,...,i, until time instant  $t_{dep,1}$ , and then, the time interval from  $t_{dep,1}$  until the time instant  $(t_{st,j} - \tau_{r,j})$ .  $p_{idle}$  is then given by:

 $p_{idle} = \text{prob}(\text{all stations } m+1, m+2, ., i \text{ remaining in idle state until time } t_{dep,1})$ .

prob(each station r,  $r=m+1, i \neq 2,..,i$  remaining idle from  $t_{dep,1}$  until time  $(t_{st,j} - \tau_{r,j})$ )

$$= p_{idle} \text{ (until } t_{dep,1}) \cdot \prod_{r=m+1}^{i} e^{-\lambda(t-\tau_{r,j})}$$
(A. 3.2.2)

where,  $p_{idle}$  (until  $t_{dep,1}$ ) = prob(stations m+1, m+2, ..., i in idle state until time  $t_{dep,1}$ ),

and, t = time interval from  $t_{dep,1}$  to  $t_{st,j} = t_c - \tau_{i,1} - nT$ 

The probability  $p_{idle}$  (until  $t_{dep,1}$ ) will be included in the evaluation of one of the remaining terms  $c_{1,\dots,n}$  as seen later under section (ii) below.

Let  $y_1$  be the number of stations in ready state at time  $t_{st,j}$  in the set  $\{m+1,m+2,..,i\}$ , and  $p_{y_1}$  be the probability of  $y_1$ . As already mentioned above, each station r, r=m+1,m+2,..,i, can become ready only during the last interval  $\tau_{r,j}$  from  $t_{st,j}$ .

 $p_{y_i}$  can be computed using the recursive algorithm in Appendix 3.4 again, since the individual probabilities of each station r, r = m+1, m+2, ..., i, in the ready state at time  $t_{st,j}$  is given by  $(1-e^{-\lambda \tau_{r_j}})$ .

(ii). Each station r, r=1,2,...,m may become ready from the time the server leaving them until  $t_{st,j}$ .

Let  $y_2$  be the number of stations in the set  $\{1, 2, ..., k^n\}$  in ready state at time  $t_{st,j}$ . Let  $p_{y_2|y_1}$  be the probability of  $y_2$  given  $y_1$ . Calculation of  $p_{y_2|y_1}$  is then very similar to the calculation of  $p_{y_1x}$ in Appendix 3.1 for Subcase 1.1 (see equation (A.3.1.1)), with the time intervals from  $t_{st,i}$  to  $t_{dep,1}$  and  $t_{dep,1}$  to  $t_{st,j}$  considered separately. Let  $y_2 = y_3 + y_4$ , where,

 $y_3 =$  number of ready stations in the set {1,2,...,m} at time  $t_{dep,1}$ ;  $0 \le y_3 \le y_2$ , and,

 $y_4$  = number of stations in the set {1,2,...,m} that becomes ready during the time interval from  $t_{dep,1}$  to  $t_{st,j}$ .

Let  $p_{y_3}$  be the probability of  $y_3$ , and  $p_{y_4|y_3}$  be the probability of  $y_4$ ; given  $y_3$ . Then,

$$p_{y_2|y_1} = \sum_{y_3=0}^{\min(y_2,m-1)} p_{y_3} \cdot p_{y_4|y_3} ; \quad y_4 = y_2 - y_3$$
(A.3.2.3)

and 
$$y_{4}y_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} m - y_{3} \\ y_{2} - y_{3} \end{pmatrix} \left( 1 - e^{-\lambda t} \right)^{y_{2} - y_{1}} \left( e^{-\lambda t} \right)^{m - y_{2}}$$
 (A.3.2.4)

where, t = time interval from  $t_{dep,1}$  to  $t_{st,j} = t_c - \tau_{i,1} - nT$  (see Figure 3.2)

To find  $p_{y_3}$ , the function  $P_r(y \mid i,k,c,n)$  is used (which is defined previously). With r=m and  $y=y_3$  in this function,

 $P_m(y_3|i,k,e,n) = \text{prob}(\text{when the server leaves station 1 there are } y_3 \text{ stations upstream from sta$  $tion 1 in ready state among stations {2,...,m-1,m} AND, all stations {m+1,m+2,...,i} remain in idle state at time <math>t_{dep,1}|i,k,e,n$  }

$$= p_{y_3} \cdot \text{prob} \text{ (stations } m+1, m+2, ..., i, in idle state at time } t_{dep,1} \text{)}$$
$$= p_{y_3} \cdot p_{idle} \text{ (until } t_{dep,1} \text{)} \text{ (A.3.2.5)}$$

Note that,  $P_m(y_3 \mid i,k,e,n)$  includes not only  $p_{y_3}$  but also the probability  $p_{ulle}$  (until  $t_{dep,1}$ ), which is required in evaluating  $p_{ulle}$ . Equations (A.3.2.3) and (A.3.2.5) yield:

$$p_{y_2|y_1} \cdot p_{idle}(until \ t_{dep,1}) = \sum_{y_1=0}^{y_2} P_m(y_3|i,k,e,n) \cdot p_{y_4|y_1}; \ y_4 = y_2 - y_3$$
(A.3.2.6)

Hence, 
$$p_{y|x} = p_{idle} + \sum_{y_1 = max(0, y - m)}^{min(y, i - m)} p_{y_1} + p_{y_2|y_1}$$
 (A.3.2.7)

**Appendix 3.3:** Evaluation of  $p_x$  and  $p_{y|x}$  in Subcase 1.3 of the Z-Net Model

The evaluation of  $p_x$  is identical to the evaluation of  $p_x$  in Appendix 3.2 for Subcase 1.2. In evaluating  $p_{y1x}$ , the following should be taken into account:

- (a). Each station r, r=1,2,..,i, should remain in the idle state from the time the server leaving station r until the time instant  $(t_{st,j}-\tau_{r,j})$ .
- (b). Each of these stations r may become ready during the last interval  $\tau_{r,j}$  from  $t_{st,j}$ .

 $p_{y|x}$  can then be evaluated following the same line of arguments in Appendices 3.1 and 3.2.

**Appendix 3.4:** Recursive Algorithm for evaluating the function f(m,n)

Suppose there are *m* stations, numbered from 1 to *m*, which could be in ready state at a particular time instant *t* with individual probabilities  $p_1 p_2 \dots p_m$ , respectively.  $p_i$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, m$ , is given by:  $p_i = 1 - e^{-\lambda t_i}$ 

where,  $\lambda = arrival rate$ , and

 $t_i$  = time interval up to the time instant t, during which an arrival could take place at station i.

The function f(m,n) is defined as:

f(m,n) = prob(out of m given stations, n are in ready state at time instant t)f(m,n) is computed recursively using the following equations:

$$f(m,n) = f(m-1,n-1) p_m + f(m-1,n)(1-p_m)$$

$$f(x,y) = f(x-1,y-1) p_x + f(x-1,y)(1-p_x); \quad 1 \le x \le m; \quad 1 \le y \le n.$$

$$f(x,0) = \sum_{i=1}^{x} (1-p_i); \quad 1 \le x \le m.$$

$$f(1,1) = p_1. \square$$

**Appendix 3.5:** Evaluation of the function  $P_r(y \mid i, k, e, n)$ 

For a given r such that  $1 \le r \le i$ , the function  $P_r(y \mid i,k,e,n)$  is defined as:

 $P_r(y \mid i, k, e, n) = \text{prob}(\text{when the server leaves station 1, there are y stations in ready state in the$ 

set  $\{2,..,r-1,r\}$  AND all the stations  $\{r+1,r+2,..,i\}$  remain in idle state 1 i,k,e,n,r)

To evaluate this probability, a slightly different function is defined as follows:

$$U_r(s,g,h \mid i,k,e,n,y) = \operatorname{prob}(s^{th} \text{ transmission in the cycle is by station } g, \text{ with } h \text{ stations in ready state in the set } \{g+1,g+2,..,r\}$$
 at the end of  $s^{th}$  transmission AND all the stations  $\{r+1,r+2,..,i\}$  remain in idle state at the end of  $s^{th}$  transmission  $\mid i,k,e,n,r,y$ 

 $U_r(s, g, h \mid i, k, e, n, y)$  can then be computed in terms of  $U_r(s-1, g', h' \mid i, k, e, n, y)$  as shown below. Depending on the location of r, two cases, Case (a).  $e \le r \le i$ , and Case (b).  $1 \le r < e$ , are possible. Under Case (a), three subcases are possible, depending on the location of station g. These are: Case (a.1).  $r \le g \le i$ ; Case (a.2).  $e \le g < r$ ; and Case (a.3).  $1 \le g < e$ . Under Case (b), only the case where  $1 \le g < e$  is relevant.

Assuming that  $e \le r \le i$  and  $e \le g < r$ , derivation of  $P_r(s, g, h \mid i, k, e, n, u)$  under case (a.2) is decribed below. The procedure for other cases use the same reasoning with minor variations.

 $U_r(s,g,h \mid i,k,e,n,y)$  is given by:

$$U_r(s,g,h+i,k,e,n,y) = \sum_{g'=min(r,g+1)}^{i+2-s} \sum_{h'=0}^{h'_{max}} p_1 \cdot \alpha \cdot p_2 \cdot p_3 \cdot U_r(s-1,g',h'|i,k,e,n,y) \quad (A.3.5.1)$$

where:

$$h'_{\max} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } g' > r \\ min(h,(r-g')), & \text{clse} \end{cases}$$

 $p_1 = \text{prob}(\text{stations } g'-1, g'-2, \dots, g+1 \text{ did not transmit } s-1^{th} \text{ transmission is by station } g')$ 

$$=\prod_{x=1}^{g'-g-1}\left(1-\frac{n-s}{g'-c-x}\right)$$

 $\alpha$  = prob(station g transmits | s-1<sup>th</sup> transmission is by g' and stations g'-1,...,g+2,g+1 did not transmit)

$$=\frac{n-s}{g-e}$$

 $p_2 = \operatorname{prob}((h-h'))$  new arrivals at (r-g-h') idle stations in the set  $\{g+1,g+2,..,r\}$  ), and,

 $p_3 = \text{prob}(\text{no arrivals at stations } \{r+1, r+2, ..., i\}$  during the time interval between server leaving g' and g)

Evaluation of  $p_2$  above depends on the location of station g' with respect to r.

When 
$$r > g'$$
:

Stations g+1,g+2,..,r are divided into two sets  $\{g+1,g+2,..,g'-1\}$  and  $\{g',g'+1,..,r\}$ .

- (a). Idle stations in the set  $\{g', g'+1, ..., r\}$  may become ready during  $(\tau_{g',g'} + T)$ , each with the same probability  $(1-e^{-\lambda(\tau_{g',g'}+T)})$ .
- (b). Each of the stations x, x=g+1, g+2, ..., g'-1; may become ready during  $(\tau_{x,g} + T)$ , with individual probabilities  $(1-e^{-\lambda(\tau_{x,g}+T)})$ .

With the above, the individual probabilities of any station in the set  $\{g+1,g+2,..,r\}$  becoming ready are known. Therefore,  $p_2$  can be evaluated using the recursive algorithm in Appendix 3.4.

# When $r \leq g'$ :

Now, each of the stations  $x_{,x}=g+1,g+2,..,r$ ; may become ready during  $(\tau_{x,g} + T)$ , with individual probabilities  $(1-e^{-\lambda(\tau_{i,g}+T)})$ . Therefore,  $p_2$  can be computed again using the recursive algorithm in Appendix 3.4.

 $U_r(s,g,h \mid i,k,e,n,y)$  can now be computed recursively, using the following conditions:  $U_r(.,r,x \mid i,k,e,n,y) = 0$ , if  $x \neq 0$ 

 $\geq 0$ , if x = 0, and this could be found using the case (a.1) where  $r \leq g \leq i$ .

To evaluate  $P_r(y \mid i, k, e, n)$ , we consider the time instants the server leaving station e (i.e.,  $t_{dep,e}$ ), and the server leaving station 1 (i.e., time  $t_{dep,1}$ ). Let  $y = y_1 + y_2$ , where,

 $y_1$  = number of ready stations in the set {e+1, e+2, ..., r} at time  $t_{dep, e}$ ,  $0 \le y_1 \le y$ ; and,

 $y_2 =$  number of stations in the set {2,3,...,r} that becomes ready during the time from  $t_{dep,e}$  to  $t_{dep,1}$ 

Let  $p_{y_1}$  be the probability of  $y_1$  and  $p_{y_2|y_1}$  be the probability of  $y_2$ , given  $y_1$ .  $P_r(y \mid i, k, e, n)$  is then given by:

$$P_{r}(y \mid i, k, e, n) = \sum_{y_{1}=0}^{\min(r-e, y)} p_{y_{1}} \cdot p_{y_{3} \mid y_{1}} \cdot p_{ulle} \quad ; \quad y_{2}=y-y_{1}$$
(A.3.5.2)

where,  $p_{idle} = \text{prob}(\text{stations } r+1, r+2, ..., i \text{ in idle state at time } t_{dep,1})$ 

= prob(stations r+1,...,i idle at time  $t_{dep,e}$ ).

prob(stations r+1,...,i remaining idle from time  $t_{dep,e}$  until  $t_{dep,1}$ )

= prob(stations 
$$r+1,...,i$$
 idle at time  $t_{dep,e}$ )  $\cdot \left(e^{-\lambda \tau_{e,1}}\right)^{i-r}$  (A. 3.5.3)

To find  $p_{y_1}$ , the function  $U_r(s,g,h \mid i,k,e,n,y)$  is used with  $s=n, g=e, h=y_1$  and  $y=y_1$ .

 $U_r(n, e, y_1 | i, k, e, n, y_1) = \operatorname{prob}(n^{th} \text{ transmission is by station } e \text{ with } y_1 \text{ ready stations at time}$   $i_{dep, e} \text{ AND stations } r+1, r+2, ..., i \text{ remaining idle at time}$   $i_{dep, e} | i, k, e, n, y_1 \rangle$ 

 $= p_{y_1} \cdot \text{prob}\left(\text{stations } r+1,...,i \text{ in idle state at time } t_{dep,e}\right)$ (A.3.5.4)

 $p_{y_2|y_1}$  can be computed using the recursive algorithm in Appendix 3.4, considering the following:

During the time the server leaving stations e and 1 (i.e., time interval  $\tau_{e,1}$ ),  $y_2$  arrivals have occured at the  $(r-1-y_1)$  idle stations in the set  $\{2,3,..,r\}$ . To find this probability (which is  $p_{y_2|y_1}$ ), consider the stations  $\{2,3,..,e\}$  and  $\{e+1,e+2,..,r\}$  separately. A station x in  $\{2,3,..,e\}$ may become ready during the time  $\tau_{x,1}$  with probability  $(1-e^{-\lambda\tau_{e,1}})$ . Any idle station in  $\{e+1,..,r\}$ may become ready during the time  $\tau_{e,1}$  with the same probability  $(1-e^{-\lambda\tau_{e,1}})$ . Now, the recursive algorithm in Appendix 3.4 can be used to compute  $p_{y_2|y_1}$ . Equations A.3.5.2, A.3.5.3 and A.3.5.4 yield:

$$P_{r}(y + i, k, e, n) = \sum_{y_{1}=0}^{\min(r-e, y)} U_{r}(n, e, y_{1} + i, k, e, n, y_{1}) \cdot p_{y_{2}|y_{1}} \cdot \left(e^{-\lambda \tau_{e,1}}\right)^{i-r}$$
(A.3.5.5)

Appendix 3.6: Evaluation of  $p_{nr}^{1x}$ , x=1,2,3,4, of the X-Net Model

Evaluation of  $p_{nr}^{1.1}$ :

 $p_{nr}^{1,1}$  is given by:

$$p_{nr}^{1,1} = p_1 \cdot p_2 \cdot p_3$$

where:

 $p_1 = \text{prob}(\text{Stations} \{2,3,..,i\} \text{ in idle state at time } t_{dep,1})$ 

 $p_2 = \text{prob}(\text{Each station } y; y = 2,3,...,i; \text{ in idle state from time } t_{dep,1} \text{ to } (t_{dep,1} + \tau_{1,y}))$ 

$$=\prod_{v=2}^{i}e^{-\lambda\cdot\tau_{1,v}}$$

 $p_3 = \text{prob}(\text{Each station } y; y = i+1, i+2, ..., j-1; \text{ in idle state until } (t_{dep,1}+\tau_{1,y}))$ 

$$= \begin{cases} \left( e^{-\lambda(t_c - \tau_{i,j})} \right)^{(j-1-\epsilon)}, & \text{for } c = random \\ \prod_{y=i+1}^{j-1} e^{-\lambda(t_c + \tau_{i,y})}, & \text{for } c = controlled \end{cases}$$

To evaluate  $p_1$ , we define a function  $Q_r(y \mid i,k,e,n)$  as follows:

 $Q_r(y \mid i,k,c,n) = \text{prob}(\text{At time } t_{dep,1}, \text{ there are } y \text{ stations among } \{r+1,r+2,..,i\} \text{ in ready state}$ AND all stations  $\{1,2,..,r-1\}$  (if any) remain in idle state; given i,k,e,n);  $1 \le r \le i$ .

The derivation of  $Q_r(y \mid i,k,e,n)$  is given in Appendix 3.7. With r=1 and y=0,

 $Q_1(\text{Oli}, \mathbf{k}, \mathbf{c}, \mathbf{n}) = \text{prob}(\text{At time } t_{dep, 1}, \text{ there are no stations in ready state among stations} \{2, ..., i-1, i\}; given i, k, e, n\}$ 

Therefore,  $p_1 = Q_1(0 \mid i,k,c,n)$ .

 $p_{nr}^{1.x}$ ; x = 2,3,4; are given by the following expressions :

$$p_{nr}^{1,x} = \begin{cases} \left( e^{-\lambda(t_c - \tau_{i,j})} \right)^{(N-j)}, & \text{for } c = random \\ \prod_{y=j+1}^{N} e^{-\lambda(t_c + \tau_{i,y} + \tau_{j,y})}, & \text{for } c = controlled \end{cases}$$
  
where,  $t_c = (\tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau + \tau_{N,j}).$ 

**Appendix 3.7:** Evaluation of the function  $Q_r(y \mid i, k, e, n)$ 

For a given r such that  $1 \le r \le i$ , the function  $Q_r(y \mid i,k,c,n)$  is defined as:

 $Q_r(y \mid i, k, e, n) = \text{prob}(\text{when the server leaves station 1, there are y stations in ready state in the set <math>\{r+1, r+2, ..., i\}$  AND all the stations  $\{2, 3, ..., r-1\}$  remain in the idle state i, k, e, n, r

In evaluating this probability for a given r,  $1 \le r \le i$ , the function  $W_r(s,g,h \mid i,k,e,n,y)$  is defined as follows:

$$W_r(s,g,h \mid i,k,e,n,y) = \operatorname{prob}(s^{th} \text{ transmission in the cycle is by station } g, \text{ with } h \text{ stations in ready state in the set } \{x+1,x+2,..,i\}$$
 at the end of  $s^{th}$  transmission AND if  $g < (r-1)$ , then all the stations  $\{g+1,g+2,..,r-1\}$  remain in idle state at the end of  $s^{th}$  transmission  $\mid i,k,e,n,r,y)$ , where,  $x = \max(r,g)$ .

 $W_r(s, g, h \mid i, k, e, n, y)$  can then be computed in terms of  $W_r(s-1, g', h' \mid i, k, e, n, y)$ . Depending on the location of r, three cases, Case (a).  $(i-k) \le r \le i$ , Case (b).  $e \le r < (i-k)$ , and Case (c).  $1 \le r < e$  are possible.

Assuming that  $(i-k) \le r \le i$ , derivation of  $W_r(s, g, h \mid i, k, e, n, y)$  for Case (a) is decribed below. Other cases use the same reasoning with minor variations in the derivations.  $W_r(s,g,h|i,k,e,n,y)$  can be computed in a recursive manner as follows:

$$W_r(s,g,h|i,k,e,n,y) = \sum_{g'=nin(r,g+1)}^{i+2-s} \sum_{h'=0}^{h'_{max}} p_1 \cdot \alpha \cdot p_2 \cdot p_3 \cdot p_4 \cdot W_r(s-1,g',h'|i,k,e,n,y)$$

where:

 $h'_{\max} = \min(y, \min(h, i-r))$ 

 $p_1 = \text{prob}(\text{stations } g'-1, g'-2, \dots, g+1 \text{ did not transmit } s-1^{th} \text{ transmission is by station}$ 

g')  
= 
$$\prod_{x=1}^{g'-g-1} \left( 1 - \frac{n-s}{g'-e'-x} \right)$$

 $\alpha$  = prob(station g transmits  $| s-1^{th}$  transmission is by g' and stations g'-1,...,g+2,g+1 did not transmit)

$$=\frac{n-s}{g-e}$$

 $p_2 = \text{prob}((h-h') \text{ new arrivals at } (i-r-h') \text{ idle stations in the set } \{r+1,r+2,..,i\} \text{ dur-}$ 

ing the interval  $(T+\tau_{g',g'})$ 

$$= \left[ \begin{matrix} i-r-h \\ h-h \end{matrix} \right] \left[ 1-e^{-\lambda t} \right]^{h-h'} \left[ e^{-\lambda t} \right]^{i-r-h} \text{ where , } t = (T+\tau_{g',g'}).$$

 $p_3 = \text{prob}(\text{no arrivals at each station } x; x = g+1, g+2, \dots, g' \text{ during the interval}$ 

$$(T+\tau_{x,g}))$$
  
=  $\prod_{x=g+1}^{g} e^{-\lambda(T+\tau_{i,g})}$ 

and,

 $p_4 = \text{prob}(\text{no arrivals at stations } \{g'+1, g'+2, \dots, r-1\} \text{ during the interval } (T+\tau_{g',g'}))$ 

$$= \left(e^{-\lambda(T+\tau_{g'_d})}\right)^{(r-1)-(g'+1)}$$

The function  $W_r(s,g,h \mid i,k,e,n,y)$  can then be computed using the following boundary conditions:

$$W_r(k+1,x, -1, i, k, c, n, y) = (1 \text{ if } x \neq (i-k)^5)$$
$$W_r(k+1, i-k, x \mid i, k, c, n, y) = p_a \cdot p_b$$

where,

$$p_a = \text{prob}(x \text{ stations out of } \{r+1, r+2, ..., i\} \text{ ready at time } t_{dep, i-k})$$
, and

 $p_b = \text{prob}(\text{each station } q; q = i - k + 1, i - k + 2, ..., r - 1; \text{ remaining in idle state during the interval } (T + \tau_{q,i-k}))$ 

To compute  $p_a$ : each station q; q = r+1, r+2, ..., i; may become ready during the interval  $t_q$ , with probability  $(1-e^{-\lambda t_q})$ ; where,  $t_q = ((q-i+k)T + \tau_{q,i-k})$ . Therefore, the recursive algorithm described in Appendix 3.4, can be used to compute  $p_a$ .

 $p_b$  is given by:

$$p_b = \prod_{q=i-k+1}^{r-1} e^{-\lambda(l+\tau_{q,i-k})}$$

 $Q_r(y \mid i, k, e, n)$  is then given by:

$$Q_r(y \mid i, k, e, n) = \sum_{x=0}^{\min(y, i-r)} \left\{ \text{prob}\left(x \text{ stations in the set } r+1, r+2, \dots, i \text{ ready at time } t_{dep, e}\right). \right.$$

$$\text{prob}\left((y-x) \text{ arrivals at the } (i-r-x) \text{ stations in the set } r+1, r+2, \dots, i \text{ during the interval } \tau_{e,1}\right) \right\}.$$

prob(stations e+1, e+2, ..., r-1 remaining in idle state during the inter-

val  $\tau_{e,1}$ ).

prob(each of the stations q; q = e, e-1, ..., 2 remaining in idle state during the interval  $\tau_{q,1}$ ).

$$= \sum_{x=0}^{min(y,i-r)} \left\{ W_r(n,e,x+i,k,e,n,y) + \begin{pmatrix} i-r-x \\ y-x \end{pmatrix} \left( 1-e^{-\lambda \tau_{e,1}} \right)^{y-x} \left( e^{-\lambda \tau_{e,1}} \right)^{i-x-y} \right\}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This is because the (k+1)th transmission should be by station (i-k).

$$+ \left(e^{-\lambda\tau_{e,1}}\right)^{(r-1-e)} + \prod_{q=2}^{e} e^{-\lambda\tau_{q,1}} \square$$

**Appendix 3.8 :** Derivation of  $S_Z(j,l \mid n,e,i,k)$  when  $j \le i$  (Case 2)

As in Case 1, three subcases 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 are considered, depending on the length of the cycle time  $t_c$ . The conditional state transition probability  $S_Z(j,l \mid n,e,i,k)$  for each of these subcases is denoted by  $s_{j,l \mid n,e,i,k}^{2,x}$ , where x = 1, 2 or 3.

**Subcase 2.1 :**  $t_c = t_j$  where,  $t_j = \tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau_{1,N} + \tau_{N,j}$  (see Figure 3.9)

Note that, according to the medium access protocol, station j cannot start the new cycle until  $t_c$  is at least  $t_j$ , even if j is ready before this time. Therefore, the smallest possible value of  $t_c$  is  $t_j$ .



Figure 3.9. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.1

Subcase 2.2:  $(t_j + 2\tau_{j,m+1}) < t_c \le (t_j + 2\tau_{j,m}); m = 1, 2, ..., (j-1)$  (see Figure 3.10)



Figure 3.10. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.2

This case is very similar in principle to subcase 1.2. However, only (j-1) adjacent subintervals of  $t_c$  from  $t_j$  to  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,1})$  are considered (instead of (i-1) subintervals in subcase 1.2), with the range of each subinterval determined by m. For a given value of m, where  $1 \le m \le (j-1)$ , suppose the length of the cycle time,  $t_c$ , is such that  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,m+1}) < t_c \le (t_j+2\tau_{j,m})$ . For some arbitrary value of  $t_c$  in this time interval, let  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,2}(m,t_c)$  be the conditional state transition probability from state (i,k) to state (j,l), given m, n and e.

Integrating  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,2}$  (m,t<sub>c</sub>) over the time interval from  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,m+1})$  to  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,m})$ , and summing up for all values of *m*, the conditional state transition probability  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,2}$  is given by:

$$s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,2} = \sum_{m=1}^{j-1} \left[ \int_{l_{j}+2\tau_{j,m+1}}^{l_{j}+2\tau_{j,m}} s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,2} (m,t_{c}) dt \right]$$

(see Figure 3.11)



Figure 3.11. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.3

Given *n*, *e* and some arbitrary value of  $t_c$  such that  $t_c > (t_j + 2\tau_{j,1})$ , let  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,3}(t_c)$  be the conditional state transition probability from state (i,k) to state (j,l).

Integrating  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,3}(t_c)$  from  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,1})$  to  $\infty$ ,  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,3}$  for subcase 2.3 is given by:

$$s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,3} = \int_{t_i+2\tau_{i,1}}^{\infty} s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,3}(t_c) dt$$

The probability  $S_Z(j,l \mid n,e,i,k)$  for Case 2 is therefore given by:

$$S_Z(j,l \mid n,e,i,k) = s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,1} + s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,2} + s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,3}$$
(A.3.8.1)

The procedure for evaluating  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,x}$  for each subcase x=1, 2 and 3, is similar in principle to Case 1.  $s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,x}$  is given by:

$$s_{j,l+n,e,i,k}^{2,x} = p_{nr}^{2,x} \cdot p_j^{2,x} \cdot p_l^{2,x}$$
,  $x=1,2,3$
where,

 $p_{nr}^{2x} = \text{prob}(\text{each station } r, r=j+1, j+2, ..., N)$ , remaining in the idle state until the time instant  $(t_{st,j}+\tau_{j,r})$ 

 $p_i^{2x} = \text{prob}(\text{station } j \text{ in the ready state at time } t_{st,j})$ , and

 $p_l^{2x} = \text{prob}(l \text{ stations from the set } \{1, 2, \dots, j-1\} \text{ in the ready state at time } t_{st,j})$ 

Expressions for  $p_{nr}^{2x}$ ,  $p_j^{2x}$  and  $p_l^{2x}$  can be derived using principles similar to that of Case 1, with some variations in the intermediate steps.  $S_Z(j,l+n,e,i,k)$  for Case 2 can therefore be evaluated using equation (A.3.8.1).

**Appendix 3.9:** Derivation of  $S_X(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,R-L,c,i,k)$  when  $j \le i$  (Case 2)

As in the Case 1, four subcases 2.1, 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 are considered, depending on the length of the cycle time  $t_c$ . The conditional probability  $S_X(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,R-L,c,i,k)$  for each subcase is denoted by  $s_{b,d,j,l \mid n,e,R-L,c,i,k}^{2,x}$ , where x = 1, 2, 3 or 4.

**Subcase 2.1 :**  $t_c = \tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau_{1,j}$  (see Figure 3.12)

According to the X-Net medium access protocol, the earliest time that station j can start the new cycle is after a time interval of  $(\tau_{i,1}+nT+\tau_{1,j})$  from the start of the previous cycle. The cycle type in this case is *L-R*.

**Subcase 2.2 :**  $t_c = \tau_{i,1} + nT + \tau + \tau_{N,j}$  (see Figure 3.13)

If station j was not ready to start the new cycle under subcase 2.1, according to the medium access protocol, the next earliest time that j can start the cycle is when  $t_c$  reaches  $(\tau_{i,1}+nT+\tau+\tau_{N,j})$  as shown in Figure 3.13. Note that the cycle type in this case (and the remaining cases 2.3 and 2.4) is L-R.

Subcase 2.3:  $(t_j + 2\tau_{j,m+1}) < t_c \le (t_j + 2\tau_{j,m}); m = 1, 2, ..., (j-1)$  (see Figure 3.14)



Figure 3.12. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.1



Figure 3.13. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.2



Figure 3.14. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.3

As in subcase 1.3, (j-1) adjacent subintervals of  $t_c$  from  $t_j$  to  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,1})$  are considered (where,  $t_j = (\tau_{i,1}+nT+\tau+\tau_{N,j})$ ), with the range of each sub interval being determined by m. For a given value of m, where  $1 \le m \le (j-1)$ , suppose the length of the cycle time,  $t_c$ , is such that  $(t_j+2\tau_{j,m+1}) < t_c \le (t_j+2\tau_{j,m})$ . For some arbitrary value of  $t_c$  in this time interval, let  $s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{2,3}(m,t_c)$  be the conditional state transition probability from state (a,c,i,k) to state (b,d,j,l), given m, n and e.

The conditional state transition probability  $s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{2,3}$  is then expressed as:

$$s_{b,d,j,l\,1n,e,a,c,i,k}^{2,3} = \sum_{m=1}^{j-1} \left\{ \int_{l_j+2\tau_{j,m,1}}^{l_j+2\tau_{j,m,1}} s_{b,d,j,l\,1n,e,a,c,i,k}^{2,3}(m,l_c) dt \right\}$$

**Subcase 2.4 :**  $t_c > (t_j + 2\tau_{j,1})$  (see Figure 3.15)

Given *n*, *e* and some arbitrary value of  $t_c$  such that  $t_c > (t_j + 2\tau_{j,1})$ , let  $s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{2,4}(t_c)$  be the conditional state transition probability from state (a, c, i, k) to state (b, d, j, l).



Figure 3.15. Time-space diagram for Subcase 2.4

Then  $s_{b,d,j,l\,ln,e,a,c,i,k}^{2,4}$  for subcase 2.4 is given by:

$$s_{b,d,j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{2,4} = \int_{t_j+2\tau_{j,1}}^{\infty} s_{j,l+n,e,a,c,i,k}^{2,4}(t_c) dt$$

Subcase 2.1 is the only one in which station j can start a cycle of type L-R. In this case, the mode d of station j just before the start of the cycle is *controlled*. In the remaining cases 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4, the type of cycle started by station j is of type R-L. In these cases, the mode d of station j is *random*. With these observations, the conditional probability  $S(b, d, j, l \mid n, e, R - L, c, i, k)$  for Case 2 can then be evaluated as follows:

$$S_{X}(L-R, random, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k) = 0$$

$$S_{X}(L-R, controlled, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k) = S_{L-R, controlled, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k}^{2.1}$$

$$S_{X}(R-L, random, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k) = S_{R-L, random, j, l + n, e, R-L, c, i, k}^{2.2}$$

$$S_{R-L,random,j,l+n,e,R-L,c,i,k}^{2.3} + S_{R-L,random,j,l+n,e,R-L,c,i,k}^{2.4} + S_{R-L,random,j,l+n,e,R-L,c,i,k}^{2.4}$$

$$S_{X}(R-L,controlled,j,l+n,e,R-L,c,i,k) = 0$$

 $s_{b,d,j,l\,ln,e,R-L,c,i,k}^{2,x}$  for each subcase x, where x=1, 2, 3 and 4, is evaluated using:

$$s_{b,d,j,l\,|n,e,R-L,c,i,k}^{2x} = p_{nr}^{2x} \cdot p_j^{2x} \cdot p_l^{2x}$$
; x=1,2,3,4

where,

 $p_{nr}^{2,x}$  = prob(when the *server enters*, each station upstream from *j* is not ready)<sup>6</sup>  $p_{j}^{2,x}$  = prob(station *j* in the ready state at time  $t_{sl,j}$ ), and  $p_{l}^{2,x}$  = prob(*l* stations downstream from *j* in the ready state at time  $t_{sl,j}$ ).

The expressions for above probabilities can be derived following similar principles used in Case 1, with some variations in the intermediate steps. Thus,  $S_X(b,d,j,l \mid n,e,R-L,c,i,k)$  for Case 2 (i.e., j≤i) can be computed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Therefore, these upstream stations do not start the new cycle.

#### Chapter 4

### Performance Evaluation of Z-Net and X-Net

The performance of Z-Net and X-Net is evaluated in this chapter. First, the analytic models developed in Chapter 3 are used to study the channel utilization and the delay characteristics of the protocols. These results are validated by comparing them with results obtained using simulation models. The simulation models are based on discrete-event simulation. The single-run method is used with the run time divided into 61 contiguous batch intervals. The mean values of channel utilization and delay of each batch are considered as independent samples and these sample values are used to compute the mean throughput and delay at a particular value of the offered load. Stations with single-capacity and infinite-capacity buffers have been incorporated in the simulations. Performance of the proposed schemes is compared with other recently proposed bus LAN schemes using the maximum achievable channel utilization and the insertion delay as performance measures. Towards the end of the chapter, possible performance improvements in Z-Net are discussed. The final section contains a discussion of the effect of the parameter  $EC^1$  on the performance of X-Net.

### 4.1. Channel Utilization

Figures 4.1 and 4.2 show the variations of channel utilization with offered load for different values of a in Z-Net and X-Net, respectively. These results are obtained using the analytic models developed in Chapter 3. Ten equally spaced, identical, single-buffered stations have been considered. Packet lengths are assumed to be fixed with the packet interarrival times being exponentially distributed. As seen from the figures, for a given value of the offered load, channel utilization decreases with increasing a. This is especially apparent at higher offered loads, which is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As mentioned in Chapter 2, the parameter EC specifies the number of consecutive *empty cycles* necessary to switch from the *controlled* mode to the *random* mode in X-Net.



Figure 4.1. Channel Utilization vs Offered Load for Z-Net



Figure 4.2. Channel Utilization vs Offered Load for X-Net

because of the increasing channel idle time, with increasing a, compared to the time during which the channel is utilized for packet transmissions. We have developed simulation models of Z-Net and X-Net to validate the results obtained from the analytic models. In Figures 4.1 and 4.2, the simulation results are indicated with dashed curves (using the same assumptions and parameters as in the analytic models). As seen from the figures, the analytic and simulation results are in very close agreement, in both Z-Net and X-Net.

Channel utilizations of Z-Net and X-Net are close to each other at low values of a. Figure 4.3 shows the channel utilization of the Z-Net and X-Net protocols at higher values of a. Simulation models have been used to obtain these results. At high values of a, the superior channel utilization of X-Net is clearly visible from the figure. This is expected, because in X-Net, the overhead time between two consecutive transmission cycles is less than that of the Z-Net.

### 4.2. Packet Transfer Delay

Packet transfer delays in Z-Net and X-Net are estimated using the equation (3.8) derived in Chapter 3. Channel utilization values computed from the analytic models are substituted in this expression to obtain the packet transfer delays. These results are presented in Figures 4.4 and 4.5 for Z-Net and X-Net, respectively. At very low values of utilization (i.e., at light loads) the insertion delays in both Z-Net and X-Net are zero. This is because, at light load, an idle station will be in the *random* mode most of the time, and therefore, can start a packet transmission as soon as it becomes ready. Therefore, at light loads, the packet transfer delay in both schemes consists of mainly the channel propagation delay. As utilization increases, delay increases gradually. Packet transfer delays obtained using the simulation models are also indicated in Figures 4.4 and 4.5 by dashed curves. The 95% confidence intervals at the simulation points are also shown. In equation (3.7), the mean insertion delay  $\overline{d}_{int}$  is very sensitive to the mean channel utilization  $\overline{U}$ , especially at low values of  $\overline{U}$ . Therefore, even though the results of analytic and simulation models for channel utilization match very closely, the results of the analytic and simulation models for packet



Figure 4.3. Channel Utilization vs Offered Load for Z-Net and X-Net at high a



Figure 4.4. Transfer Delay vs Channel Utilization for Z-Net

Transfer Delay (µs)



Figure 4.5. Transfer Delay vs Channel Utilization for X-Net

transfer delay show a wider difference at the lower and intermediate range of utilization.

# 4.3. Comparison of Performance with other Bus Schemes

Maximum achievable channel utilization is used as one of the measures to compare the performance of Z-Net and X-Net with other recently proposed bus schemes. Expressions for the maximum channel utilization of Z-Net and X-Net can be derived as follows:

Let x stations out of a total of N be continuously backlogged. During the time interval between two consecutive cycles, x packets are transmitted. Therefore, the channel utilization  $U_{N,x}$  under this condition is given by:

Z-Net:

$$U_{N,x} = \frac{x \times \text{Mean packet length (bits)}}{\text{Mean time between two consecutive cycles (bits)}}$$

With x transmissions in a cycle, neglecting the inter-packet gaps, the time interval between two consecutive cycles in Z-Net is approximately given by  $(xT + 2\tau)$ . Therefore,

$$U_{N,x} = \frac{xT}{xT + 2\tau} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{2a}{x}}$$

where  $a = \frac{\tau}{T}$ 

### X-Net:

Consider two consecutive cycles of transmissions in the *controlled* mode. During the time interval between the start of the first cycle and the end of the second cycle, 2x packets are transmitted. Therefore,  $U_{N,x}$  is given by:

$$U_{N,x} = \frac{2x \times \text{Mean packet length (bits)}}{\text{Length of } R-L \text{ and } L-R \text{ cycles (bits)}}$$

Ignoring the inter-packet gaps and the length of the *D-pkts*, the channel utilization is approximately given by:

$$U_{N,x} = \frac{2xT}{2xT + 2\tau} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{a}{x}}$$

The above expressions yield the maximum utilization,  $U_{max}$ , when x = N, i.e., when all the stations are continuously backlogged. The maximum achievable channel utilization for several bus network schemes is shown in Table 4.1. These are plotted as a function of a in Figure 4.6 for two different values of N.

Nctwork	Max. Channel Utilization
Buzznet	$\frac{1}{1+6a/N}$
D-Net, Expressnet, Z-Net	$\frac{1}{1+2a/N}$
DQDB	1
Fasnet	$\frac{1}{1 + ([2a] + 1)/N}$
TLP-1, 2	$\frac{1}{1+3a/N}$
TLP-3, X-Nci	$\frac{1}{1 + a/N}$

Table 4.1: Maximum channel utilization for different bus networks

As seen from Figure 4.6, DQDB achieves the highest utilization, which is almost insensitive to **a**. However, in DQDB, stations are required to know the relative locations of other stations in the network. The channel utilizations of X-Net and TLP-3 at heavy load are similar, and are better than that of Buzznet, Expressnet, Fasnet, TLP-1,2 and Z-Net. Even though the  $\bigcup_{max}$  of these networks decrease with increasing **a**, with large number of backlogged stations, high utilizations can be achieved for a wide range of **a** values.

We use insertion delay as a means of comparing the delay performance of Z-Net and X-Net with other bus schemes. Figure 4.7 shows the variation of the insertion delay with the utilization for Z-Net, X-Net and several other network schemes. Except for Z-Net and X-Net results, other results in this figure are based on the simulation results presented in [Gerla et. al 1985]. As seen





Figure 4.6. Maximum Channel Utilization vs a for several bus networks





Figure 4.7. Insertion Delay vs Channel Utilization for several bus networks

from the figure, the insertion delay of Z-Net is better than that of TLP-1 and TLP-2 at all loads. Compared to Buzznet, Z-Net achieves superior delay performance, except at light load. At intermediate loads, Expressnet outperforms Z-Net. X-Net performance at light load is slightly worse than that of Buzznet and Z-Net, but superior to Expressnet, U-Net and Tokenless protocols. At all other loads,<sup>2</sup> the delay performance of X-Net is better than all the other schemes considered.

## 4.4. Performance Improvements in Z-Net

In Z-Net, as discussed in Chapter 2, a station i that has completed transmission retransmits its packet if it senses beginning-of-carrier (BOC) on the R-L bus, before ACL<sub>i</sub> reaches 2τ. If the upstream station on the R-L bus which originated the second transmission has not blocked any transmissions on the L-R bus, channel bandwidth is wasted by station i transmitting a duplicate. Some of these unnecessary retransmissions can be eliminated by attaching an additional bit (called the *trailer* bit) to the end of a packet. A station j in the *Txmit* state, detecting any BOC on the L-R bus during its transmission will set the *trailer* bit to 1. On the other hand, if station j has not blocked any transmissions on the L-R bus, it sets the *trailer* bit to zero. A downstream station i (on the R-L bus) in the *Txmitted* state will wait for the *trailer* bit when it senses BOC on the R-L bus. A retransmission is effected only if the *trailer* bit is 1, which indicates that an upstream station (on the R-L bus) has blocked a transmission (not necessarily station i's) on the L-R bus. This technique minimizes unnecessary retransmissions, but it cannot completely eliminate them. The dashed curve in Figure 4.7 shows the simulation results of insertion delay when a *trailer* bit is used in Z-Net. As seen from the figure, the performance improves slightly, especially in the intermediate range of utilizations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At heavy load, we expected the delay performance of U-Net and TLP-3 to be similar to that of X-Net. For some reason not known to us, the insertion delay of U-Net and TLP-3 appear to exceed that of X-Net at heavy load.

## 4.5. Effect of the parameter EC on the Performance of X-Net

In X-Net, more transitions are made from the *controlled* to the *random* mode when EC=1, compared to other values of EC. This is because, with higher values of EC, a greater number of consecutive empty cycles are required for switching to the random mode. Figure 4.8 shows the simulation results of the insertion delay against channel utilization with different values of EC for a = 5. As the load increases, the probability of a cycle being empty decreases. Therefore, at high loads, even with EC=1, a station is in the controlled mode most of the time. Thus, at high loads, the parameter EC will have no effect on the performance, as seen from Figure 4.8. At low loads, however, the probability of several consecutive empty cycles is higher (compared to heavy load). Therefore, at low loads, the number of transitions from the controlled mode to the random mode can be controlled by varying EC. With low values of EC, the delay performance is better at light loads. This is because, the bulk of the transmissions is started from the random mode with zero delay. Only very few transmissions are made in the following transient and controlled modes. At intermediate loads however, a transmission in the random mode is usually followed by several other transmissions in the transient and controlled modes. When the mean packet length is small compared to  $\tau$  (i.e., with high a), even after all transmissions in the *transient* mode are over, there could be an additional waiting time (as seen from Figure 2.6.b) before switching to the controlled mode to start the next cycle. Therefore, with high a values, at low loads, better performance can be achieved by allowing less transitions to the random mode. The reason being, even though the delay is zero for the station that starts transmission in the random mode, the other stations that have to wait their turn in the controlled mode now have to wait for a longer period. At high a values therefore, there is a trade-off in performance with different EC values. At light loads, performance is better with low EC, but this yields slightly higher delay at intermediate loads. With increasing EC, delay increases slightly at light load, but decreases at intermediate loads. This effect is clearly visible from Figure 4.8. Therefore, with an intermediate value of EC, a compromise between these two extremes can be achieved. When EC is made extremely large, all



Figure 4.8. Variation of Insertion Delay with parameter EC in X-Net (a = 5.0)

.

transmissions (at any load) take place only in the *controlled* mode, as no transitions are made to the *random* mode. The operation of X-Net under this situation is similar to that of U-Net and TLP-3. The trade-off in performance discussed above is not present at lower a values. This is because, there is no additional waiting time involved in switching from the *transient* to the *controlled* mode (see Figure 2.6.a) in this case. Once the transmissions in the *transient* mode are over, *D-pkt* transmission can immediately be started to switch to the *controlled* mode and start the next cycle. The simulation results presented in Figure 4.9 for a = 0.2 with different values of EC show the insensitivity of performance to the parameter EC when a is small.



Figure 4.9. Variation of Insertion Delay with parameter EC in X-Net (a = 0.2)

### Chapter 5

## **Conclusions and Directions for Further Research**

In this thesis, we have proposed two new local area network protocols named Z-Net and X-Net, and evaluated their performance using analytic and simulation models. The network architecture of both Z-Net and X-Net consists of two, unidirectional fiber-optic channels. The medium access protocols of the proposed schemes fall into the category of *hybrid access* protocols. This is because they behave as *random access* schemes at light load and as *controlled access* schemes (with implicit token-passing) at higher loads.

A novel feature of the network architecture is the use of active switches in interfacing a station to a fiber-optic bus, to reduce the waste of bandwidth due to packet collisions. This is achieved by allowing one transmission to continue to completion, while other participants in the collision abort their transmissions. Z-Net uses active switches on the L-R bus and passive switches on the R-L bus. In Z-Net, a transmitting station defers to upstream transmissions on the R-L bus. At the start of a packet transmission, a station applies a voltage to the active switch, thereby altering the tap ratio to a very low value. This allows the station to intercept transmissions that it may detect from the upstream side of the L-R bus during its packet transmission. A station continues its transmission, regardless of any transmissions detected on the L-R bus. However, these upstream transmissions on the L-R bus are intercepted and not allowed to propagate any further down the L-R bus. With this arrangement, when packet collisions occur, the transmitting station that is most upstream on the R-L bus continues its transmission to completion, while the other transmissions are aborted. A cycle of transmissions consists of packets from the most upstream ready station on the R-L bus towards the downstream ready stations (i.e., in the right to left direction, and therefore called an R-L cycle). During a cycle, all ready stations get an opportunity to transmit. At the end of a cycle, a new cycle is started again by the most upstream ready station on the R-L bus.

In X-Net, active switches are used on both buses. The operation of a transmission cycle in the right-to-left direction (i.e., an R-L cycle) is identical to a transmission cycle in Z-Net. Additionally, because of the use of active switches on the R-L bus, it is possible to have transmission cycles in the left-to-right direction (which are called L-R cycles) too. An R-L cycle is followed by an L-R cycle, in contrast to the (only) R-L cycles in Z-Net. The start of consecutive transmission cycles by the most upstream ready stations on the two buses in opposite and alternating directions reduces the overhead time between adjacent cycles. Therefore, as revealed from the performance results, X-Net exhibits superior throughput and delay performance compared to Z-Net.

The combination of random and controlled access protocol features of Z-Net and X-Net result in zero access delay at light load, while the delay is always bounded. The use of implicit token passing reaps the benefits of controlled access schemes while avoiding the problems of token loss, multiple tokens etc., in the explicit token schemes. Both medium access protocols are distributed, with all stations executing identical functions. This makes the network less vulnerable to single station failures. Both protocols need not know the location of other stations in the network. Therefore, if there are frequent changes in the station locations, much less maintenance effort is required.

The results obtained from the analytic and simulation models show that the performance of the proposed protocols does not degrade rapidly with increasing values of **a**. Therefore, they are suitable for operation in a high speed environment, where the packet transmission time could become comparable to, or even less than the end-to-end medium propagation delay. With the bounded delay property at all loads, the proposed networks are also suitable for supporting real-time traffic. Compared to Z-Net, the throughput and delay performance of X-Net is superior. However, in X-Net, stations are required to know their own locations in the network. In Z-Net, this knowledge is not required. Further, a physical implementation of X-Net would be more expensive than that of Z-Net, because of the use of active taps on both buses. Therefore, there is a

trade-off of cost and performance between the two schemes. In applications where the performance is critical, X-Net may be used at a higher cost, while Z-Net may be used in other applications at a lower cost.

As a direction for further research, the extension of Z-Net and X-Net protocols for supporting different services (such as voice, data and video) could be identified. For this purpose, the protocols should be capable of supporting different levels of service priorities. For real-time traffic such as voice, the protocols should guarantee a certain channel bandwidth at periodic intervals. For traffic of non-time-critical nature, the remaining bandwidth should be allocated in a fair manner.

In the thesis, the effect of varying the parameter EC in X-Net has been discussed. In the proposed version of X-Net, a fixed value of EC is used. At high speeds (i.e., at high a), the effect of EC on performance has been demonstrated using simulation results. Further research may be undertaken to extend the X-Net protocol to dynamically select optimum values of EC with varying values of the offered load. Another area for future research is the fairness issues. Allocation of channel bandwidth equally among all stations (of the same priority) is important to ensure the fairness of the medium access protocol. In Z-Net and X-Net, the transmissions are arranged into cycles and each station gets an opportunity to transmit in a cycle. Therefore, the bandwidth allocation among stations in Z-Net and X-Net should be expected to be fair. An in-depth analysis of fairness of the Z-Net and X-Net protocols under different loading conditions and buffer capacities is an area that needs further study.

¢

### REFERENCES

- ABEYSUNDARA, B. W., AND KAMAL, A. E. 1991. High speed local area networks and their performance: A survey, *To appear in ACM Computing Surveys*.
- ALFERNESS, R. C. 1982. Waveguide electrooptic modulators, IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory and Techniques, MTT-30, 8, (Aug.), pp. 1121-1137.
- BUDRIKIS, Z. L., HULLET, J. L., NEWMAN, R. M., ECONOMOU, D., FOZDAR, F. M., AND JEFFERY, R. D. 1986. QPSX: A queue packet and synchronous circuit exchange, Proc. 8th Int. Conf. Comp. Commun., Munich, pp.288-293.
- BUX, W. 1981. Local-area subnetworks: A performance comparison, IEEE Trans. Commun., COM-29, 10, (Oct.), pp. 1465-1473.
- BUX, W. 1984. Performance issues in local-area networks, IBM Systems J., 23, 4, pp. 351-374.
- CHLAMTAC, I., AND FRANTA, W. R. 1990. Rationale, directions, and issues surrounding high speed networks, *Proc. IEEE.*, 78, 1, (Jan.), pp. 94-120.
- CHLAMTAC, I., AND GANZ, A. 1988. Design and analysis of very high-speed network architectures, *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, 36, 3, (Mar.), pp. 252-262.
- CLARK, D. D., POGRAN, K. T., and REED, D. P. 1978. An Introduction to local area networks, Proc. IEEE., 66, 11 (Nov.), pp. 1497-1516.
- CONTI, M., GREGORI, E., AND LENZINI, L. 1990. DQDB under heavy load: Performance evaluation and fairness analysis, in *Proc. IEEE INFOCOM Conf.*, pp. 313-320.
- DAVIES, P., AND GHANI, F. A. 1983. Access protocols for an optical-fibre ring network, computer commun., 6, 4, (Aug.), pp. 185-191.
- DU, D. H. C., CHANG, S. P., AND SUBBARO, G. 1989. Multiple packet multiple channel CSMA/CD protocols for local area networks, *Proc. INFOCOM Conf.*, pp. 163-172.
- DYKEMAN, D., AND BUX, W. 1988. Analysis and tuning of the FDDI media access control protocol, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, 6, 6, (July), pp. 997-1010.
- FILIPIAK, J. 1989. Access protection for fairness in a distributed queue dual bus metropolitan area network, Proc. IEEE Intl. Commun. Conf., pp. 635-639.
- FINE, M., AND TOBAGI, F. A. 1984. Demand assignment multiple access schemes in broadcast bus local area networks, *IEEE Trans. Comp.*, C-33, 12, (Dec.), pp. 1130-1159.
- FINLEY, JR., M. R. 1984. Optical libres in local area networks, IEEE Commun. Mag., 22, 8, (Aug.), pp. 22-35.

- GERLA, M., RODRIGUES, P., AND YEH, C. 1983. Buzz-net : a hybrid random access/ virtual token local network, *Proc. GLOBECOM*, pp. 1509-1513.
- GERLA, M., RODRIGUES P., AND YEH, C. 1984. U-Net: A unidirectional fiber bus network, FOC/LAN 84, 8th Intl. Fiber Optics Commun. and Local Area Networks Exposition, Las Vegas, NV., (Sept.), pp. 295-299.
- GERLA, M., RODRIGUES, P., AND YEH, C. W. 1985. Token-based protocols for high-speed optical-fiber networks, *IEEE J. Lightwave Tech.*, LT-3, 3, (June), pp. 449-466.
- GERLA, M., AND WANG, G. S. 1987. Performance models of Buzz-net, A hybrid fiber optics LAN, Proc. INFOCOM, pp. 298-306.
- GERLA, M., WANG, G. S., AND RODRIGUES, P. 1987. Buzz-net: A hybrid token/random access LAN, IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun., SAC-5, 6, (July), pp. 977-988.
- HAFNER, E. R., NENADAL, Z., AND TSCHANZ, M. 1974. A digital loop communication system, IEEE Trans. Commun., COM-22, 6, (June), pp. 877-881.
- HAHNE, E. L., CHOUDHURY, A. K., AND MAXEMCHUK, N. F. 1990. Improving the fairness of distributed-queue-dual-bus networks, in *Proc. IEEE INFOCOM Conf.*, pp. 175-184.
- HASSANEIN, H. S., AND KAMAL, A. E. 1990. On the behaviour of Hubnet with applications to priority implementation, in *Proc. IEEE INFOCOM Conf.*, pp. 1188-1195.
- HOPPER, A., AND NEEDHAM, R. M. 1988. The Cambridge fast ring networking system, *IEEE Trans. Comp.*, 37, 10, (Oct.), pp. 1214-1223.
- IEEE 1990. Proposed standard: Distributed Queue Dual Bus (DQDB) Metropolitan Area Network (MAN), Unapproved Draft P802.6/D15 dated Oct. 1, 1990, IEEE.
- IEEE COMPUTER SOCIETY 1985a. Carrier sense multiple access with collision detect (CSMA/CD) access method and physical layer specifications, ANSI/IEEE 802.3 (ISO/DIS 8802/3), IEEE.
- IEEE COMPUTER SOCIETY 1985b. Token-passing bus access method and physical layer specifications, ANSI/IEEE 802.4 (ISO/DIS 8802/4), IEEE.
- IEEE COMPUTER SOCIETY 1985c. Token ring access method and physical layer specifications, ANSI/IEEE 802.5 (ISO/DIS 8802/5), IEEE.
- JOSHI, S., AND IYER, V. 1984. New standards for local networks push upper limits for lightwave data, *Data Commun.*, 6, 3, (July), pp. 127-138.
- KAMAL, A. E. 1987. Star local area networks: A performance study, *IEEE Trans. Comp.*, C-36, 4, (Apr.), pp. 483-499.

- KAMAL, A. E. 1990a. On the use of multiple tokens on ring networks, in *Proc. IEEE INFOCOM* Conf., pp. 15-22.
- KAMAL, A. E. 1990b. An algorithm for the efficient utilization of bandwidth in the slotted ring, in Proc. IEEE Second Workshop on Future Trends in Distributed Systems in the 90s, Cairo, Egypt, pp. 178-184.
- KAMAL, A. E., AND HAMACHER, V. C. 1989. Approximate analysis of non-exhaustive multiserver polling systems with applications to local area networks, *Computer Networks and* ISDN Sys., Vol. 17, No. 1, June 1989, pp. 15-27.
- KAMAL, A. E., AND HAMACHER, V. C. 1990. Utilizing bandwidth sharing in the slotted ring, IEEE Trans. Comp., 39, 3, (Mar.), pp. 289-299.
- KAUR, H., AND CAMPBELL, G. 1990. DQDB An access delay analysis, in Proc. IEEE INFOCOM Conf., pp. 630-635.
- KING, P. J. B., AND MITRANI, I. 1987. Modeling a slotted ring local area network, IEEE Trans. Comp., C-36, 5, (May), pp. 554-561.
- KOROTKY, S. K., AND ALFERNESS, R. C. 1988. Waveguide electrooptic devices for optical fiber communication, *Optical Fiber Telecommunications II*, S. E. Miller and I. P. Kaminow (eds.), Academic Press, New York, Chapter 11, pp. 421-465.
- LEE, E. S., AND BOULTON, P. I. P. 1983. The principles and performance of Hubnet: A 50 Mbit/s glass fibre local area network, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, SAC-1, 5, (Nov.), pp. 711-720.
- LEE, E. S., BOULTON, P. I. P., AND THOMSON, B. W. 1988. HUBNET performance measurement, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, 6, 6, (July), pp. 1025-1032.
- LIMB, J. O. 1984. On fiber optic taps for local area networks, *Proc. IEEE Intl. Commun. Conf.*, pp. 1130-1136.
- LIMB, J. O., AND FLORES, C. 1982. Description of Fasnet A unidirectional local-area communications network, *Bell Syst. Tech. J.*, 61, 7, (Sept.), pp. 1413-1440.
- LIU, M. T. 1978. Distributed loop computer networks, Advances in Computers, Vol. 17, (M. C. Yovits, editor), Academic Press, New York, pp. 163-221.
- LIU, M. T., HILAL, W., AND GROOMES, B. H. 1982. Performance evaluation of channel access protocols for local computer networks, *Proc. COMPCON Fall* 82, pp. 417-426.
- MARHIC, M. E., AND TOBAGI, F. A. 1986. Experimentation with a fibre optic implementation of Expressnet, Proc. Fourth European Fibre Optic Commun. & Local Area Networks (EFOC/LAN) Expo., Amsterdam, (June), pp. 244-254.

- MARSAN, M. A., AND ROFFINELLA, D. 1983. Multichannel local area network protocols, IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun., SAC-1, 5, (Nov.), pp. 885-897.
- MATSUSHITA, S., KAWAI, K., AND UCHIDA, H. 1985. Fiber-optic devices for local area network application, *IEEE J. Lightwave Tech.*, LT-3, 3, (June), pp. 544-555.
- MAXEMCHUK, N. F. 1988. Twelve random access strategies for liber optic networks, *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, 36, 8, (Aug.), pp. 942-950.
- MEHMET-ALI, M. K., HAYES, J. F., AND ELHAKEEM, A. K. 1988. Traffic analysis of a local area network with a star topology, *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, 36, 6, (June), pp. 703-712.
- METCALFE, R. M., AND BOGGS, D. R. 1976. Ethemet: Distributed packet switching for local computer networks, *Commun. ACM*, 19, 7, (July), pp. 395-404.
- METZNER, J. J. 1985. A high efficiency acknowledgment protocol for the slotted Pierce ring, Proc. INFOCOM, pp. 333-339.
- NASSEHI, M. M., TOBAGI, F. A., AND MARHIC, M. E. 1985. Fiber optic configurations for local area networks, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, SAC-3, 6, (Nov.), pp. 941-949.
- NEWMAN, R. M., BUDRIKIS, Z. L., AND HULLET, J. L. 1988. The QPSX Man, IEEE Commun. Mag., 26, 4, (Apr.), pp. 20-28.
- NEWMAN, R. M., HULLET, J. L. 1986. Distributed queueing: A fast and efficient packet access protocol for QPSX, Proc. 8th Intl. Conf. Computer Commun., Munich, pp.294-299.
- PENNEY, B. K., AND BAGHDADI, A. A. 1979a. Survey of computer communications loop networks: Part 1, computer commun., 2, 4, (Aug.), pp. 165-180.
- PENNEY, B. K., AND BAGHDADI, A. A. 1979b. Survey of computer communications loop networks: Part 2, computer commun., 2, 5, (Oct.), pp. 224-241.
- PERSONICK, S. D. 1985. Protocols for liber-optic local area networks, *IEEE J. Lightwave Tech.*, LT-3, 3, (June), pp. 426-431.
- RAWSON, E. G., AND METCALFE, R. M. 1978. Fibernet: Multimode optical fibres for local computer networks, *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, COM-26, 7, (July), pp. 983-990.
- RHODES, N. L. 1983. Interaction of network design and fiber optic component design in local area networks, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, SAC-1, 3, (Apr.), pp. 489-492.
- RODRIGUES, P. A., FRATTA, L., AND GERLA, M. 1984. Token-less protocols for fiber optics local area networks, Proc. Intl. Commun. Conf., pp. 1150-1153.

ROSS, F. E. 1986. FDDI - a tutorial, IEEE Commun. Mag., 24, 5, (May), pp. 10-17.

- ROSS, F. E. 1989. An overview of FDDI: The fiber distributed data interface, IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun., 7, 7, (Sept.), pp. 1043-1051.
- SACHS, S. R. 1988. Alternative local area network protocols, *IEEE Commun. Mag.*, 26, 3, (Mar.), pp. 25-45.
- SALTZER, J. H., CLARK, D. D., AND POGRAN, K. T. 1981. Why a ring?, Proc. 7th Data Commun. Symp., pp.211-217.
- SCHILL, A., AND ZIEHER, M. 1987. Performance analysis of the FDDI 100 Mbit/s optical token ring, High speed local area networks : Proc. IFIP TC 6/WG 6.4 Int. Workshop on High Speed Local Area Networks (HSLAN), Aachen, Fed. Repub. Germany, (16-17 Feb.), Ed. O. Spaniol, A. Danthine, pp. 53-74.
- SCHMIDT, R. V., RAWSON, E. G., NORTON, Jr., R. E., JACKSON, S. B., AND BAILEY, M. D. 1983. Fibernet II: A fiber optic Ethernet, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, SAC-1, 5, (Nov.), pp. 702-711.
- SEVCIK, K. C., AND JOHNSON, M. J. 1987. Cycle time properties of the FDDI token ring protocol, IEEE Trans. Software Eng., SE-13, 3, (Mar.), pp. 376-385.
- STALLINGS, W. 1984a. IEEE Project 802, Setting standards for local-area networks, COMPU-TERWORLD, Feb. 13.
- STALLINGS, W. 1984b. Local network performance, *IEEE Commun. Mag.*, 22, 2, (Feb.), pp. 27-36.
- STALLINGS, W. 1984c. Local networks, Computing Surveys, 16, 1, (Mar.), pp. 3-41.
- TANGNEY, B., AND O MAHONY, D. 1988. Local area networks and their applications, Prentice Hall, UK., p.33.
- TEMPLE, S. 1983. The design of the Cambridge fast ring, Proc. IFIP WG6.4/ Univ. of Kent Workshop on Ring Technology based Local Area Networks, Kent, U.K., (Sep. 28-30), pp. 79-88.
- TOBAGI, F. A., BORGONOVO, F., AND FRATTA, L. 1983. Expressnet: A high-performance integrated-services local area network, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, SAC-1, 5, (Nov.), pp. 898-913.
- TOBAGI, F. A., AND FINE, M. 1983. Performance of unidirectional broadcast local area networks: Expressnet and Fasnet, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, SAC-1, 5, (Nov.), pp. 913-926.
- TOBAGI, F. A., AND HUNT, V. B. 1980. Performance analysis of carrier sense multiple access with collision detection, *Computer Networks*, 4, (Oct.), pp. 245-259.

- TSENG, C., AND CHEN, B. 1983. D-Net, A new scheme for high data rate optical local area networks, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, SAC-1, 3, (Apr.), pp. 493-499.
- WAGNER, S. S. 1987. Optical amplifier applications in fiber optic local networks, *IEEE Trans.* Commun., COM-35, 4, (April) pp. 419-426.
- WERNLI, M. A. 1986. The choices in designing a liber-optic network, *Data Commun.*, (June), pp. 167-175.
- WILKES, M. V., AND WHEELER, D. J. 1979. The Cambridge digital communication ring, Proc. Local Area Commun. Network Symp., Boston, MA, (May), pp.47-61.
- WONG, J. W. 1989. Throughput of DQDB networks under heavy load, Proc. Seventh Annual European Fibre Optic Commun. & Local Area Networks (EFOC/LAN) Expo., Amsterdam, (June), pp. 146-151.
- XU, M., AND HERZOG, J. H. 1988. Concurrent token ring protocol, *Proc. INFOCOM*, pp. 145-154.
- ZAFIROVI-VUKOTIC, M., NIEMEGEERS, I. G., AND VALK, D. S. 1988. Performance analysis of slotted ring protocols in HSLANs, *IEEE J. Selected Areas Commun.*, 6, 6, (July), pp. 1011-1024.